

LUND UNIVERSITY

Heart failure in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with special reference to primary care.

Kaszuba, Elzbieta

2018

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Kaszuba, E. (2018). *Heart failure in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with special reference to primary care.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö]. Lund University: Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00 Heart failure in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with special reference to primary care

Heart failure in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with special reference to primary care

Elżbieta Kaszuba



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at 16 February 2018, 1.00 pm.

Agardhsalen, CRC, Malmö

Faculty opponent Professor Johan Ärnlöv

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name: Dissertation
	Date of issue: 2018-02-16
Author(s) Elzbieta Kaszuba	Sponsoring organization

Title and subtitle: Heart failure in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with special reference to primary care.

Abstract

Background: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and heart failure (HF) are two major conditions, which are common in the Swedish population and which to a large extent are managed in Swedish primary care. When both conditions coexist, similarities in symptoms and signs cause diagnostic difficulties. Unrecognized HF in patients with COPD has serious clinical implications. Despite the fact that coexistence of COPD and HF is common; the conditions have mostly been studied separately. **Aim**: To describe diagnostic and epidemiological aspects of COPD, coexisting HF, other comorbidities and to evaluate thoracic impedance cardiography (ICG) as a method in the assessment of heart function in patients with heart failure.

Methods : Study design: All four papers were descriptive and non-interventional. Papers III and IV were register-based. **Study populations:** Paper I: Patients aged \geq 65 years with a registered diagnosis of COPD (n=172) in two primary care (PC) centres in Blekinge. Paper II: Patients with a registered diagnosis of HF in the outpatient HF unit in Karlshamn. Paper III: The adult population in Östergötland. Paper IV: Patients aged \geq 35 years with COPD diagnosis in Blekinge . **Main outcome measures:** Paper I: Percentage of patients with elevated NT-proBNP, percentage of patients with abnormal left ventricular function assessed by echocardiography, and association between elevated NT-proBNP and symptoms, signs, and electrocardiography. Paper II: Paser III: Prevalence of HF in patients with COPD, percentage of patients treated in PC, secondary care or both, distribution of levels of other comorbidities measured by resource utilization band (RUB) using ACG Case-Mix System. Paper IV: Odds ratios of mortality- univariate analysis and with adjustment for age, sex and other comorbidities.

Results: Paper I: Using NT-proBNP ≥ 1200 pg/mL HF was detected and confirmed in 5.6% of patients with COPD. An elevated level of NT-proBNP was only associated with nocturia and abnormal electrocardiography. **Paper II:** A significant association between three of four ICG parameters describing systolic function of left ventricular function (pre-ejection period, left ventricular ejection time and systolic time ratio) and EF measured by echocardiography was found. The fourth parameter (ejection time ratio) was not associated with EF. No association between ICG parameters describing cardiac work and EF by echocardiography was found. **Paper III:** The prevalence of HF in patients with COPD was 18.8%, while it was 1.6% in patients without COPD. Age-standardized prevalence was 9.9% and 1.5%, respectively. Standardized relative risk for the diagnosis of HF in patients with COPD was 6.6. Comorbidity levels were significantly higher in patients with COPD and coexisting HF compared to patients with either COPD or HF alone. PC was the only care provider for 20.7% of patients with COPD and coexisting HF compared to patients with COPD and coexisting HF and participated furthermore in shared care of 21.7% of those patients. **Paper IV:** Estimated mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting HF was 7 times higher than in patients with COPD alone - odds ratio 7.1 (95% CI 3.9-12.8). Adjusting for age and male sex resulted in odds ratio 3.8 (95% CI 2.0-7.2). Further adjusting for other comorbidities resulted in odds ratio 3.8 (95% CI 2.0-7.2). Further adjusting for other comorbidity level – RUB 5 where the odds ratio 0.3 (95% CI 2.0-10.4).

Conclusions: Using NT-proBNP as an initial step for the diagnosis of HF in patients with COPD , considerably fewer cases of HF were than would be expected from the results of previous studies. The results from paper II do not support the application of ICG in order to determine left ventricular function and increase the accuracy of the diagnosis of HF. HF in patients with COPD is common in the Swedish population. Patients with coexisting COPD and HF have higher levels of other comorbidities than patients with COPD or HF alone. This group of multimorbid patients is, to a great extent, managed within Swedish PC. Coexisting HF considerably increases the odds of mortality in patients with COPD. Other comorbidities are the strongest predictor of mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting HF, which is why it is important to recognize and adequately treat other comorbidities early in those patients in order to improve survival.

Key words Heart failure, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, impedance cardiography, diagnosis, registres, comorbidity, mortality, primary care.

 Classification system and/or index terms (if any)

 Supplementary bibliographical information

 ISSN and key title 1652-8220

 Recipient's notes

 Number of pages

 Security classification

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Meriete Karrube

Date 2018-01-10

Heart failure in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease with special reference to primary care

Elżbieta Kaszuba



Cover photo by

Copyright Elżbieta Kaszuba

Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2018:13 Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö

ISBN 978-91-7619-580-2 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2018



Media-Tryck is an environmentally certified and ISO 14001 certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental Any knowledge that doesn't lead to new questions quickly dies out: it fails to maintain the temperature for sustaining life. Wisława Szymborska

Table of Contents

Abstract	10
Abbreviations	13
Original papers	14
Background	15
Definitions and terminology	16
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)	16 17
Epidemiology of COPD and heart failure in Sweden	19
Diagnosing of COPD and heart failure in Swedish primary care Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease Heart failure	19 19 19
Thoracic impedance cardiography	20
Coexistence of COPD and heart failure	23
Comorbidities in patients with COPD and heart failure	24
Aims of the thesis	25
Methods	27
Data collection and study populations Paper I.	27
Paper II	29
Paper III	29
Paper IV	29
Study procedures	30
Statistical analyses	33
Ethical consideration	35

Results	
Paper I	
Paper II	
Paper III	
Paper IV	45
Discussion	47
Summary of the main results	47
Strengths and limitations	
Paper I	
Paper II	49
Paper III and IV	49
Meaning of the results	
Conclusion	51
Future studies	53
Svensk sammanfattning	55
Acknowledgements	57
References	59

Abstract

Background

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and heart failure are two major conditions, which are common in the Swedish population and which to a large extent are managed in Swedish primary care. When both conditions coexist, similarities in symptoms and signs cause diagnostic difficulties. Unrecognized heart failure in patients with COPD has serious clinical implications. Despite the fact that coexistence of COPD and heart failure is common; the conditions have mostly been studied separately.

Aim

The aim of this thesis was to describe diagnostic and epidemiological aspects of COPD, coexisting heart failure, other comorbidities and to evaluate thoracic impedance cardiography (ICG) as a method in the assessment of heart function in patients with heart failure.

The specific aims for each paper were the following:

Paper I: To study the efficacy of diagnosing of heart failure in patients with COPD in primary care. Paper II: To evaluate ICG as a method in the assessment of left ventricular function in patients with heart failure. Paper III: To study the prevalence of heart failure in patients with COPD in the Swedish population. To describe where patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure are treated and to study other comorbidities in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure. Paper IV: To study the importance of heart failure and other comorbidities for mortality in patients with COPD.

Methods

Study design: Papers I-III: Descriptive, non-interventional, cross-sectional design. Paper IV: Descriptive, non-interventional, prospective design. Papers III and IV were register-based.

Study populations: Paper I: Patients aged ≥ 65 years with a registered diagnosis of COPD (n=172) in two different primary care centres in Blekinge County. Paper II: Patients with a registered diagnosis of chronic heart failure (n= 36) in the outpatient heart failure unit at Blekinge County Hospital in Karlshamn. Paper III: The adult population (≥ 19 years) in Östergötland County (n=313 977). Paper IV: Patients aged ≥ 35 years with the diagnosis of COPD in Blekinge County (n=1011).

Main outcome measures: Paper I: Percentage of patients with elevated NT-proBNP, percentage of patients with abnormal left ventricular function assessed by

echocardiography, and association between elevated NT-proBNP and symptoms, signs, and electrocardiography. Paper II: Association between hemodynamic parameters measured by ICG and the value of ejection fraction as a determinant of left ventricular systolic function in echocardiography. Paper III: Prevalence of heart failure in patients with COPD, percentage of patients treated in primary-, secondary care or both, distribution of levels of other comorbidities measured by resource utilization band (RUB) using Adjusted Clinical Groups Case-Mix System. Paper IV: Odds ratios of mortality- univariate analysis and with adjustment for age, sex and other comorbidities.

Results

Paper I: Using NT-proBNP threshold \geq 1200 pg/mL heart failure was detected and confirmed in 5.6% of patients with COPD. An elevated level of NT-proBNP was only associated with nocturia and abnormal electrocardiography.

Paper II: A significant association between three of four ICG parameters describing systolic function of left ventricular function (pre-ejection period, left ventricular ejection time and systolic time ratio) and ejection fraction measured by echocardiography was found. The fourth parameter (ejection time ratio) was not associated with ejection fraction. No association between ICG parameters describing cardiac work and ejection fraction by echocardiography was found.

Paper III: The prevalence of heart failure in patients with COPD was 18.8%, while it was 1.6% in patients without COPD. Age-standardized prevalence was 9.9% and 1.5%, respectively. Standardized relative risk for the diagnosis of heart failure in patients with COPD was 6.6. Comorbidity levels were significantly higher in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure compared to patients with either COPD or heart failure alone. Primary care was the only care provider for 20.7% of patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure and participated furthermore in shared care of 21.7% of those patients.

Paper IV: Estimated mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure was seven times higher than in patients with COPD alone - odds ratio 7.1 (95% CI 3.9-12.8). Adjusting for age and male sex resulted in odds ratio 3.8 (95% CI 2.0-7.2). Further adjusting for other comorbidities resulted in odds ratio 3.3 (95% CI 1.7-6.3). The mortality was strongly associated with the highest comorbidity level – RUB 5 where the odds ratio was 5.2 (95% CI 2.6-10.4).

Conclusions

Using NT-proBNP as an initial step for the diagnosis of heart failure in patients with COPD in primary care, considerably fewer cases of heart failure were found than would be expected from the results of previous studies. The diagnostic tools, which are available for the general practitioner, are not sufficient and do not allow for an accurate diagnosis of heart failure in patients with COPD.

When using ICG in assessment of left ventricular function in patients with chronic heart failure we found that only three of four ICG parameters, which describe systolic function of the left ventricle, were significantly associated with ejection fraction measured by echocardiography. We could not confirm previously suggested associations between ICG parameters and ejection fraction measured by echocardiography. The results from the present study do not support the application of ICG in order to determine left ventricular function and increase the accuracy of the diagnosis of heart failure.

Heart failure in patients with COPD is common in the Swedish population. Patients with coexisting COPD and heart failure have higher levels of other comorbidities than patients with COPD or heart failure alone. This group of multimorbid patients is, to a great extent, managed within Swedish primary care. Coexisting heart failure considerably increases the odds of mortality in patients with COPD. Other comorbidities are the strongest predictor of mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure, which is why it is important to recognize and adequately treat other comorbidities early in those patients in order to improve survival rates.

Abbreviations

COPD	chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
FEV1	forced expiratory volume in 1 second
FVC	forced vital capacity
LVEF	left ventricle ejection fraction
HFpEF	heart failure with preserved ejection fraction
HFrEF	heart failure with reduced ejection fraction
HFmrEF	heart failure with mild ranged ejection fraction
NYHA	the New York Heart Association
GOLD	the Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease
BNP	B-type natriuretic peptide
NT-proBNP	N-terminal pro-BNP
ICG	thoracic impedance cardiography
ICD 10	International Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th revision
ACG Case-Mix System	Adjusted Clinical Groups Case-Mix System
RUB	resource utilization band
SD	standard deviation
IQR	interquartile range
CI	Confidence Interval

Original papers

This thesis is based on the following papers:

- I. Kaszuba E, Wagner B, Odeberg H, Halling A: Using NT-proBNP to detect chronic heart failure in elderly patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. ISRN Family Med. 2013 Jun 9;2013:273864. doi: 10.5402/2013/273864. eCollection 2013.
- II. Kaszuba E, Scheel S, Odeberg H, Halling A: Comparing impedance cardiography and echocardiography in the assessment of reduced left ventricular systolic function. BMC Res Notes. 2013 Mar 26;6:114. doi: 10.1186/1756-0500-6-114
- III. Kaszuba E, Odeberg H, Råstam L, Halling A: Heart failure and levels of other comorbidities in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in a Swedish population: a register- based study. BMC Res Notes. 2016 Apr 12;9:215. doi: 10.1186/s13104-016-2008-4
- IV. Kaszuba E, Odeberg H, Råstam L, Halling A: Impact of heart failure and other comorbidities on mortality in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Manuscript.

Background

One of the most common causes of consultations in primary care is dyspnea [1]. Behind this symptom, the general practitioner can find a minor health problem or a serious one.

This thesis dealt with two serious disorders that can be present as dyspnea: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and heart failure. COPD and heart failure are chronic and severe conditions characterized by a progressive course. Both are common in the Swedish population [2, 3] and associated with prevalent occurrence of other comorbidities and high mortality [4, 5]. In Sweden, most patients with COPD and the majority of patients at risk of heart failure, e.g. with coronary heart disease, atrial fibrillation and hypertension, are treated in primary health care.

Heart failure might be overlooked in patients with COPD due to similarities in symptoms and signs. When diagnosing heart failure, evidence of cardiac dysfunction should be objectively verified using echocardiography [6]. Echocardiography, however, is not always easily available in Swedish primary care. Echocardiography is performed after referral and requires input from secondary care.

Taking those facts into consideration I wanted to study:

- I. How effective are recommended diagnostic procedures in primary care when diagnosing heart failure in patients with COPD.
- II. Whether a new method thoracic impedance cardiography (ICG)- can be used in order to assess left ventricular function in patients with heart failure.
- III. How prevalent heart failure in patients with COPD is in the Swedish population and where patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD are treated: primary- or secondary care.
- IV. How important heart failure and other comorbidities are for mortality in patients with COPD.

Definitions and terminology

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)

According to the Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) [7] COPD is defined as a common preventable and treatable disease, which is characterized by persistent airflow limitation that is usually progressive and associated with an enhanced chronic inflammatory response in the airways and the lung to noxious particles or gases. The diagnosis of COPD should be established by spirometry. The persistent airflow limitation is defined by a value of a quotient of two parameters measured by spirometry: forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV1) and forced vital capacity (FVC). The quotient FEV1/FVC < 0.7 after inhalation of bronchodilating medicine is a diagnostic criterion of COPD.

Classification of severity of COPD is based on airflow limitation measured by post-bronchdilator FEV1 expressed as percent of predicted value:

Stage I: FEV1≥80%

Stage II: FEV1 50-79%

Stage III: FEV1 30-49%

Stage IV: FEV1 <30% or <50% with presence of chronic respiratory failure.

The use of combined assessment, which includes the degree of airflow limitation, symptoms assessment and risk of exacerbations, has recently been recommended by GOLD in order to guide management choices. Thus COPD is classified as:

A: Minor symptoms, airflow limitation stage I or II and non or 1 exacerbation not leading to hospitalization,

B: Major symptoms, airflow limitation stage I or II and non or 1 exacerbation not leading to hospitalization,

C: Minor symptoms, airflow limitation stage III or IV and ≥ 2 exacerbations or 1 exacerbation leading to hospitalization,

D: Major symptoms, airflow limitation stage III or IV and ≥ 2 exacerbations or 1 exacerbation leading to hospitalization.

The diagnostic criteria for COPD and classification according to GOLD are well established in Sweden. However, the modification regarding airflow limitation, with respect to age, was previously used when defining COPD. In patients 65 years and older, the quotient 0.65 was recommended instead of 0.7 [8].

This modification has been removed and the latest national recommendations are in agreement with GOLD [9, 10].

Heart failure

The definition of heart failure has evolved and changed during the time and mirrored the increase of knowledge in the field.

At the end of the 1960s and in the 1970s heart failure was defined only from hemodynamic perspective as 'a state in which the heart fails to maintain an adequate circulation for the needs of the body despite a satisfactory venous filling pressure'[11]. In the 1980s abnormalities of left ventricular function and neurohormonal regulation were added [12] with the definition: 'a complex clinical syndrome characterized by abnormalities of left ventricular function and neurohormonal regulation, which are accompanied by effort intolerance, fluid retention and reduced longevity'. In the year 2005 'objective evidence of cardiac dysfunction at rest' was included in the definition of European Society of Cardiology [13] while the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association definition remained more hemodynamically orientated 'heart failure is a complex clinical syndrome that can result from any structural or functional disorder that impairs the ability of the ventricle to fill with or eject blood' [14]. The newest guidelines, from 2016, for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology [6] define heart failure as 'a clinical syndrome characterized by typical symptoms, e.g. breathlessness, ankle swelling and fatigue that may be accompanied by signs, e.g. elevated jugular venous pressure, pulmonary crackles and peripheral edema caused by a structural and/or functional cardiac abnormality, resulting in a reduced cardiac output and/or elevated intracardiac pressures at rest or during stress'. The guidelines underline that this definition is restricted to patients with symptoms and does not comprise asymptomatic cardiac abnormalities.

When taking a time aspect into consideration about heart failure we use the following terms: acute, subacute, chronic heart failure [6]. However, there are no fixed timeframes defined for when to use these terms.

In older studies, the term of congestive heart failure was frequently used. Congestion refers to evidence of retention of sodium and water. If congestion predominates in systemic venous circulation we refer to right-sided heart failure and if congestion predominates in pulmonary venous circulation we refer to leftsided heart failure. Those conditions, however, generally do not occur separately.

The classification based on left ventricle function is commonly used in clinical practice and trials. Left ventricular function is measured by echocardiography, which is the "gold standard" and described by left ventricle ejection fraction (LVEF) [15].

Heart failure was previously classified into two types [16]:

- 1. Heart failure with normal LVEF (\geq 50%) or diastolic heart failure
- 2. Heart failure with reduced LVEF (<50%)

The newest proposal of the European Society of Cardiology [6] is to classify heart failure into three types:

- 1. Heart failure with preserved LVEF \geq 50% (HFpEF)
- 2. Heart failure with mild-range LVEF 40-49% (HFmrEF)
- 3. Heart failure with reduced LVEF < 40% (HFrEF)

The New York Heart Association's (NYHA) classification is related to the severity of symptoms and widely used both in clinical practice and in trials [17].

Class I: No limitation of physical activity. Ordinary physical activity does not cause undue fatigue, palpitation, dyspnea.

Class II: Slight limitation of physical activity. Comfortable at rest. Ordinary physical activity results in fatigue, palpitation, dyspnea.

Class III: Marked limitation of physical activity. Comfortable at rest. Less than ordinary activity causes fatigue, palpitation, or dyspnea.

Class IV: Unable to carry out any physical activity without discomfort. Symptoms of heart failure at rest. If any physical activity is undertaken, discomfort increases.

The American College of Cardiology and American Heart Association proposed classification into five stages [14, 18]:

Stage A: Patients at high risk of developing heart failure due to conditions strongly associated with the development of heart failure without signs or symptoms and without structural or functional abnormalities of the heart.

Stage B: Patients with structural heart disease that is strongly associated with the development of heart failure, but without symptoms and signs of heart failure.

Stage C: Patients with current or prior symptoms of heart failure associated with underlying structural heart disease.

Stage D: Patients with advanced structural heart disease and refractory symptoms of heart failure requiring specialized interventions.

This classification underlines the fact that heart failure is a continuum, which starts with risk factors and proceeds through asymptomatic changes in the heart, clinical manifestation to disability and death.

Epidemiology of COPD and heart failure in Sweden

Between 4.4 and 7.7% of the Swedish population is estimated to have COPD [2]. The prevalence increases with age. In the year 2003, 5% of smokers had COPD at the age of 45 years while 50% of smokers had COPD at the age of 75 years [19]. In the year 2009, the general prevalence of COPD was 6.3%, despite the decreasing prevalence of smoking in Sweden [20].

The prevalence of heart failure in the general population in Sweden is between 2 and 3% and rises with age to approximately 10-20% at 70-80 years of age [3][21, 22]. The incidence has increased mainly due to an increasing proportion of elderly people in Sweden.

Both COPD and heart failure patients use a large part of resources in Swedish health care and place a heavy economic burden due to high prevalence and the chronic and progressive course of both conditions [3, 23-25].

Diagnosing of COPD and heart failure in Swedish primary care.

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

COPD in Sweden is usually diagnosed in primary care without involvement of secondary care. Spirometry is required in order to make a valid diagnosis of COPD according to the GOLD criteria [26] and is recommended with the highest priority by Swedish National Guidelines for asthma and COPD when COPD is suspected [9]. Spirometry is widely available in Swedish primary care. In the year 2000, a spirometer was available in 77% of primary care centers in central Sweden [27]. In the year 2009, spirometry was accessible in 99% of primary care centers participating in the study in different parts of Sweden [28]. Spirometry is usually performed in a primary care center by a specially trained asthma/COPD nurse. After a spirometry examination, the diagnosis of COPD is usually made by a general practitioner. In exceptional cases, it might happen that spirometry is performed at the lung disease unit in secondary care.

Heart failure

An accurate heart failure diagnosis requires evidence of an impaired heart function, which can be shown by echocardiography. Echocardiography in Sweden is performed within secondary care after referral from a general practitioner and is not easily available in many parts of the country. It is performed only in about 30% of patients with suspected heart failure in Swedish primary care [29, 30].

The diagnosis of heart failure is usually made clinically. Assessment of probability of heart failure in the same patient cases differs considerably between different general practitioners [31].

Testing of natriuretic peptides is a recommended tool which might be used by a general practitioner in order to improve the correctness of heart failure diagnosis [32]. In 1988, B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) was isolated from porcine brain tissue [33] and described in 1995 as 'emergency cardiac hormone against ventricular overload' with the following effects: improvement of myocardial relaxation, decreasing of vasoconstriction, sodium retention and antidiuretic effects caused by the activated rennin-angiotensin-aldosterone system [34]. BNP is synthesized in the ventricular myocardium under the circumstances of volume expansion or pressure overload as pre-proBNP. This inactive form is cleft first to pro-BNP and thereafter to biologically active BNP and aminoterminal (Nterminal) fragment NT-proBNP. The role of natriuretic peptides as a biomarker for heart failure has developed and both BNP and NT-proBNP were suggested as useful tools in diagnosing heart failure [35, 36] and included in guidelines for heart failure in Europe and America [13, 37, 38]. The fact that many factors affect the levels of natriuretic peptides should be taken into consideration when interpreting the results. Age, female sex, arrhythmia including atrial fibrillation, renal insufficiency are associated with increased levels, while obesity, common antihypertensive medications are associated with lower levels of natriuretic peptides [39]. According to the latest European Society Guidelines for heart failure 2016 [6], natriuretic peptides are recommended as an initial investigation in patients presenting with symptoms that suggest heart failure. Patients with normal levels of natriuretic peptides are unlikely to have heart failure and do not require echocardiography.

Thoracic impedance cardiography

Thoracic impedance cardiography (ICG) is a non-invasive investigation method. Impedance is a measure of resistance against alternating current. How to use ICG in clinical practice is simple, similar to electrocardiography, and an examination can be performed by the general practitioner. Two pairs of dual electrodes are placed on the patient's neck and chest as shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1.

Electrode placement for impedance cardiography measurement (after permission of Medizinische Messtechnik GmbH Ilmenau, Germany).

The inner sensors apply a non-perceptible current, the outer sensors measure the impedance. The impedance changes during every heartbeat due to changes in blood volume and blood flow velocity in the aorta. Changes in impedance are used to calculate different hemodynamic parameters. Each parameter has defined reference values in a healthy person. ICG parameters are presented in Table 1.

Table 1.The list of ICG parameters.

	unit
HR	1/min
HPD	ms
SV	ml
SI	ml/min
СО	l/min
CI	l/min/m ²
LCW	kg∙m
LCWI	$kg\!\cdot\!m\!/m^2$
VI	1/1000/s
ACI	$1/100/s^2$
HI	Ohm/s ²
TFC	1/kOhm
PEP	ms
LVET	ms
STR	
ETR	%
SVR	ml/min
SVRI	ml/min/m ²
	HR HPD SV SI CO CI LCW LCWI VI ACI HI TFC PEP LVET STR ETR SVR SVR

A meta-analysis of the validity of cardiac output measurement by ICG found a moderately good correlation between cardiac output measured by ICG and other techniques, such as thermodilution, dye dilution, Fick technique and radionuclide angiography [40].

ICG was considered to be reproducible in ambulatory patients with heart failure [41] and was suggested as a useful tool in management of patients with heart failure in order to detect worsening of left ventricular function [42], predict decompensation in patients with stable heart failure [43, 44], follow-up patients with heart failure and choose an optimal treatment [45, 46]. Those facts made me take an interest in using ICG as a possible tool in assessment of ventricular function in general practice.

Coexistence of COPD and heart failure

The link between COPD and atherosclerosis as a basic factor underlying cardiovascular diseases, which leads to heart failure, can be explained by traditional risk factors, e.g. smoking, low socioeconomic status and sedentary lifestyle and a number of novel risk factors. The novel risk factors comprise systemic inflammation, vascular dysfunction as a consequence of oxidative and physiologic stress, accelerated aging mechanisms in patients with COPD and upregulation of proteases [47]. All those factors affect endothelium, vascular smooth muscles and extracellular matrix and lead to atherosclerosis.

Occurrence of cardiovascular diseases in patients with COPD is well-known in clinical practice and well-described in several studies [48-50]. Heart failure should not be considered an isolated diagnosis but rather a consequence of cardiovascular diseases.

Patients with COPD present a risk of developing heart failure 4.5 times higher than age-matched controls [51].

The prevalence of heart failure in patients with COPD older than 65 years of age in primary care was found to be approximately 20% [52, 53]. There were no prior Swedish data about prevalence of heart failure in patients with COPD.

Despite improved treatments for COPD and heart failure, both conditions are still characterized by a high mortality rate. COPD is predicted to be the third most common cause of death and disability worldwide by 2030 [4]. The 5-year survival in patients with heart failure was 53% compared with 93% in aged and sex matched general population [5]. The prevalence and burden of heart failure and COPD correlate with the aging of the population. The proportion of elderly in Sweden is the highest in the world with 17.4% of the population aged \geq 65 years and that figure is expected to increase until the year 2020 [54]. This implies that management of COPD and heart failure will be a challenge in future primary care in Sweden. The risk of overlooking or misdiagnosing heart failure in patients with COPD is high due to similarities in symptoms and signs and lack of immediate access to echocardiography as an objective tool in assessment of left ventricular function.

Comorbidities in patients with COPD and heart failure

As mentioned above the prevalence of COPD and heart failure increases with age.

Age is the most important factor, which influences multimorbidity defined as occurrence of two or more long-term chronic conditions in an individual [55]. Multimorbidity was widely reported in previous studies separately for patients with COPD [48, 50, 56-58] and heart failure [59-64]. This thesis dealt with patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure. When describing other conditions in those patients the term 'other comorbidities' was used throughout the thesis.

Aims of the thesis

The general aim of this thesis was to describe diagnostic and epidemiological aspects of coexisting heart failure and COPD in the Swedish population and to evaluate impedance cardiography in assessment of left ventricular function in patients with heart failure.

The specific aims for each paper were the following:

Paper I: To study how effective recommended procedures in primary care are when diagnosing heart failure in patients with COPD.

Paper II: To study the association between ICG parameters and ejection fraction measured with echocardiography.

Paper III: To study the prevalence of heart failure in patients with COPD in a Swedish population, describe where patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD are treated: primary- or secondary care and describe other comorbidities in this group of patients.

Paper IV: To describe importance of heart failure and other comorbidities for mortality in patients with COPD.

Methods

Study design: All the studies were descriptive and non-interventional. A cross-sectional design was used in papers I-III and a prospective design in paper IV.

Data collection and study populations

Papers I and II were based on original material collected for the purpose of the studies. Papers III and IV were register-based.

Paper I

The study was conducted in two different primary care centers during the period 16 April 2008 - 13 June 2008 in Blekinge County. This county has approximately 150 000 inhabitants and is located in south-eastern Sweden. The first primary care center was located in Olofström, the second one in Karlskrona. During the study period, Olofström municipality had 13 198 inhabitants, with 22.7% aged 65 years and older and Karlskrona municipality had 62 338 inhabitants with 19% aged 65 years and older [65].

The study included patients aged 65 years and older with the following diagnosis codes according to the International Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems, 10th revision (ICD 10): J44 (COPD) and J41, J42 (chronic bronchitis) registered during the period 1 January 2008 - 16 April 2008 according to the electronic patient record.

Data on the patient flow during the study are shown in Figure 2.





At the time of the study, 9265 patients were registered at the primary care center in Olofström; a total of 1905 (20.6%) patients were aged 65 years and older. At the primary care center Tullgården in Karlskrona a total of 9002 patients were registered; 1508 (16.8%) were aged 65 and older.

Exclusion criteria comprised impaired cognitive function and/or anticipated difficulties in carrying out spirometry due to immobility, psychiatric disorders or terminal illness.

Informed consent was obtained from each participant.

Paper II

The data were collected in the outpatient heart failure unit at the Blekinge County Hospital in Karlshamn in Sweden during the period 6 February 2009 – 6 March 2009. There were 63 patients registered at the heart failure unit. All registered patients were invited to participate by letter sent by a cardiologist. No reminder was sent. Exclusion criteria comprised significant aortic valve insufficiency and severe aortic stenosis, both of which influence ICG measurement. Informed consent was obtained from each participant.

Paper III

The data were obtained from the Care Data Warehouse register in Östergötland County in Sweden [66]. The register collects data concerning consultation and diagnosis transferred every month from all public- and private care units in both primary- and secondary care. Diagnoses are recorded according to ICD 10. We used data from the year 2006. The study population included people older than 19 years.

Paper IV

The data were obtained from the Blekinge County council health care register. The register collected data concerning diagnosis at each consultation in all public- and private care units in both primary- and secondary care. Diagnoses were recorded according to ICD 10. The study population comprised people aged \geq 35 years. The data from 1 January to 31 December 2007 were analyzed. The whole population of the county could be studied because of the centralized listing system in place in the primary care center in Blekinge County at that time. Date of death was collected from 1 January 2008 to 31 August 2015 and obtained from the Blekinge County council. Individuals who left Blekinge County during observation time were excluded from the study.

Study procedures

Paper I

As a first step, we wanted to confirm the diagnosis of COPD found in medical records and classify the degree of severity of COPD according to the GOLD criteria [26]. For this purpose, all participants were examined with spirometry (Spirare 3, Diagnostica, Norway), if spirometry had not already been carried out during the past year.

Patients with a confirmed diagnosis of COPD were examined regarding chronic heart failure.

They were asked in an interview about the following symptoms: breathlessness, orthopnoea, night cough, nocturia, walking distance. Physical examination included: weight and height, heart and lung auscultation, blood pressure measurement after five minutes' rest in the sitting position and the presence of peripheral edema. Positive findings from heart and lung auscultation were determined as rales and the third heart sound.

All patients were examined by electrocardiography and tested with natriuretic peptide.

The natriuretic peptide was determined as NT-proBNP (Immulite 2500, Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics AB Sweden). Patients with NT-proBNP level of \geq 1200 pg/ml were referred for echocardiography to assess left ventricular (LV) function using the following echocardiographic criteria:

 $EF \ge 55\%$: Normal systolic LV function

EF 40-54%: Mildly impaired systolic LV function

EF 30-39%: Moderately impaired LV function

EF <30%: Severely impaired LV function

Abnormal LV relaxation and/or distensibility during normal EF were described as diastolic dysfunction.

Paper II

The patients were examined by means of echocardiography and ICG during one consultation. Both echocardiography and ICG were performed once on each patient. Echocardiography was performed by an experienced cardiologist using Vivid 7, GE equipment. EF was calculated according to modified Simpson's formula. The following echocardiographic criteria were used to describe left ventricle systolic function: $EF \ge 50\%$ normal systolic function, EF 40-49% mildly impaired systolic function, EF 30-39% moderately impaired systolic function, EF

<30% severely impaired systolic function. ICG was performed by the author using Niccomo TM monitor (Medis. Medizinische Messtechnik GmbH, Germany) [67].

ICG measurement was obtained after 10 minutes' resting, in the supine position, with the head elevated between 30-45 degrees to provide better comfort for the patient.

None of the ICG parameters can be directly compared with EF due to differences in both methods of examinations. ICG parameters were divided into the following groups:

- 1. Expression for cardiac work: cardiac output, stroke volume, left cardiac work.
- 2. Contractility: velocity index, acceleration index, Heather index.
- 3. Fluid status: thoracic fluid content.
- 4. Expression for systolic function: pre-ejection period, left ventricular ejection time, systolic time ratio and ejection time ratio.
- 5. Expression for the vascular resistance the heart works against: systolic vascular resistance.

Papers III and IV

Similar procedures were used when handling the register data in papers III and IV.

An individual was identified as having COPD or heart failure if the ICD 10 diagnosis code J44 or I50 was recorded on at least one consultation in primary or secondary care including hospitalization. The code J44 comprised the following: J44 chronic obstructive lung disease, J44.0 chronic obstructive lung disease with acute infection in lower airways, J44.1 chronic obstructive lung disease with acute exacerbation, unspecified, J44.8 other specified chronic obstructive lung disease including chronic bronchitis with emphysema. The register did not allow to follow the distribution of severity of COPD. The code I50 comprised: I50.0 chronic heart failure including congestive heart failure, right heart failure secondary to left heart failure, I50.1 left ventricular failure with or without lung edema and cardiac asthma, I50.9 heart failure, unspecified.

In order to describe comorbidity the diagnosis-based Adjusted Clinical Groups (ACG) Case-Mix System 7.1 was used. Each individual was assigned one of six comorbidity levels called resource utilization bands (RUB) graded from 0 to 5 where 5 means very high morbidity and need of care. When identifying the place where patients received care in paper III we used information where the diagnosis of heart failure and COPD was made: primary-, secondary care or both.

Statistical analyses

Data were analyzed in STATA version 10 (Stata Corporation, Texas, USA).

Distribution of categorical variables was presented as numbers. Distribution of continuous variables in paper I was presented as the mean and standard deviation (SD) except NT-proBNP value, which was presented as the mean and interquartile range (IQR) due to a skewed distribution. Distribution of continuous variables in other papers was presented as the mean and 95% Confidence Interval (CI).

Comparisons in groups were made in papers I and II. Mann-Whitney test was chosen for comparison of mean values in paper I due to small groups and skewed distribution. In paper II, Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare variables in more than two groups and show differences between the groups.

Differences in proportions in the groups in all papers were tested with the chisquare test.

A p-value of < 0.05 was considered significant.

Univariate logistic regression was used in paper IV to show the effect of heart failure, age, sex and comorbidity on mortality in patients with COPD. Multiple logistic regression was then performed in order to adjust the estimated odds ratio to age, sex and other comorbidities.

Ethical consideration

All the study protocols were approved by the Regional Ethics Review Board.

Studies I, II and IV were approved by the Regional Ethics Review Board in Lund. Case numbers were respectively 50/2008, 533/2008, 2015/169. Study III was approved by Regional Ethics Review Board in Linköping, case number 147/05 and 29/06. Study I was registered at ClinicalTrials.gov. Identifier NCT01801722.

Participation in the studies was voluntary. Written, informed consent was obtained from each participant in studies I and II. In the register studies III and IV the presumed consent was used. Information about the studies was published in local newspapers and patients had the possibility to contact the researcher and desist from participation. The included patients could withdraw from the studies at any time.

Time and effort was made to protect individual data. Only researchers and qualified personnel were involved in data collection. Thereafter all data were encrypted and presented at a group level. The risk of harm for study participants was considered to be low. No study procedure was considered to cause pain or have an adverse effect.
Results

Paper I

An initial 75 participants were enrolled in the study. The diagnosis of COPD could not be confirmed with spirometry in 22 of the 75 patients (29%) and those patients were excluded from further examination. Statistical analysis was made on the 53 participating patients with confirmed COPD.

The group was comprised of 25 women (47%) and 28 men (53%). The mean age was 75.4 years (SD 7.9), 76.3 (SD 7.6) for men and 74.4 (SD 8.2) for women.

Spirometry showed COPD in stage one in 10 patients (19%), stage two in 28 patients (54%), stage three in 11 patients (21%) and stage four in one patient (2%). The severity of COPD could not be classified in two patients (4%) as they were older than 90 years and no reference of FEV1 is available for this age group. A median of NT-proBNP was 228 pg/ml (IQR 89-561). An NT-proBNP level equal to or above 1200 pg/ml was found in eight out of 53 patients (15%).

These eight patients were significantly older than the other participants (p = 0.03). There was no correlation between the NT-proBNP level and COPD stage (p=0.9).

Patients with an increased level of NT-proBNP ($\geq 1200 \text{ pg/ml}$) were classified as having suspected heart failure and referred for echocardiography. One patient died while awaiting examination. Only two out of seven patients (28%) with suspected heart failure had a reduced EF (20 and 35%). One out of seven patients (14%) had signs of diastolic dysfunction. We were only able to confirm the diagnosis of chronic heart failure in three out of 53 patients, which constitutes 5.6% of the study population. Nocturia was the only registered symptom found more commonly among patients with suspected heart failure, NT-proBNP ≥ 1200 pg ml. We found a strong correlation between elevated NT-proBNP and abnormalities on electrocardiography (p=0.007).

Paper II

The consent for participation was obtained from 37 out of 63 (59%) patients registered at the heart failure unit. Those 37 patients were enrolled in the study. ICG could not be performed in one patient due to distortions in the ICG signal and

that patient was excluded. The mean age of 36 patients was 68.3 years (CI 64.2-72.4).

The group was comprised of 28 men (78%) and eight women (22%). The mean age for men was 68.2 (95% CI 64.0 -72.4) and for women it was 68.5 (95% CI 54.7-82.3). None of the patients met the exclusion criteria. None of the patients reported any discomfort or adverse reaction associated with ICG measurement.

Normal left ventricular systolic function was presented in 13 out of 36 patients (36%), mildly impaired in nine patients (25%), moderately and severely impaired each in seven patients (19%), respectively.

A significant association between three of four ICG parameters describing left ventricular systolic function (pre-ejection period, left ventricular ejection time and systolic time ratio) and ejection fraction measured by echocardiography was found. The fourth parameter (ejection time ratio) was not associated with ejection fraction. No association between ICG parameters describing cardiac work and ejection fraction by echocardiography was found.

The results are presented in Table 2.

Table 2.

Distribution of ICG parameters (value and 95% CI) in groups with different ejection fraction (EF).

EF	≥50% (n=13)	40-49% (n=10)	30-39% (n=6)	<30% (n=7)	p-value
CI	2.808 (2.56-3.5)	3.14 (2.42-3.53)	2.6 (2.46-3.29)	2.7 (2.05-2.92)	0.1180
SI	42.15 (37.04-47.27)	35.95 (26.96-44.83)	36.86 (28.77-44.94	38.83 (27.46-50.2)	0.2708
PEP	110.31 (94.38-126,23)	108.4 (95.71-121.1)	139.5 (110.23-168.77)	148 (125.2-170.79)	0.0069*
LVET	323.08 (285.77- 360.38)	292.7 (271.06-314.34)	262 (222.78-301.22)	268.43 (212.7-324.15)	0.0462*
STR	0.35 (0.29-0.41)	0.38 (0.32- 0.43)	0.54 (0.41-0.66)	0.75 (0.4-0.77)	0.0031*
ETR	37.15 (34.65-39.66)	37.3 (32.02-42.58)	32.66 (30.04-35.29)	34.57 (32.51-36.63)	0.1934
VI	33.77 (29.28-38.26)	38.4 (29.9-46.9)	35.17 (20.42 - 49.9)	40 (26.12-53.88)	0.61
ACI	51.84 (42.92-60.77)	64.6 (44.59-84.61)	66 (41.33-90.67)	68.14 (50.3-85.98)	0.26
HI	7.9 (5.81-9.98)	10.03 (6.44-13.61)	6.18 (2.98-9.39)	5.8 (2.59-9.0)	0.1006
LCWI	3.17 (2.7-3.63)	3.95 (2.96-4.93)	3.02 (2.5-3.52)	2.87 (2.38-3.35)	0.2624
SVRI	2452 (2099-2806)	2435 (1899-2971)	2662 (2179-3145)	2511 (1743-3279)	0.8549
TFC	35.12 (28.25-41.99)	33.89 (28.27-39.51)	39.63 (30.32-48.95)	43.99 (31.94-56.03)	0.1461

Paper III

The study population consisted of 313977 individuals. The diagnosis of heart failure was registered in 1.8% and the diagnosis of COPD was registered in 1.2% of the study population. The mean age in patients with the diagnosis of heart failure was 78.4 years (CI 78.0-78.7). The mean age of patients with the diagnosis of COPD was 70.5 years (CI 70.2-70.9). The prevalence of both diagnoses increased with age (Table 3).

Table 3.

Prevalence of diagnoses COPD, heart failure and coexisting COPD and heart failure in the study population.

Variables	20-39 years	40-59 years	60-79 years	>80 years	Total
Women	47419	53539	41359	16386	158703
Men	52020	55164	3843	9647	155274
COPD in total population	31 (0.03%)	536 (0.4%)	2280 (2.8%)	889 (3.4%)	3736 (1.2%)
Heart failure in total population	34 (0.03%)	328 (0.3%)	2132 (2.6%)	3045 (11.6%)	5539 (1.8%)
Heart failure in patients without COPD	34 (0.03%)	302 (0.3%)	1765 (2.3%)	2738 (10.9%)	4839 (1.6%)
Heart failure in patients with COPD	0 (0%)	26 (4.6%)	367 (16.1%)	307 (34.5%)	700 (18.8%)

The prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure in patients with the diagnosis of COPD was 18.8% and 1.6% in patients without COPD. After standardizing for age the prevalence was 9.9% and 1.5%, respectively. Standardized relative risk of the diagnosis of heart failure in patients with COPD was 6.6.

The prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure increased with age in women and men in both groups and reached 35.7% in men with COPD ≥ 80 years (Figure 3).



Figure 3.

Prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure in female (A) and male patients (B) with and without COPD in different age groups.

The prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure was significantly higher in both women and men with COPD compared to women and men without COPD in all age groups apart from the age group 20-39 years.

The most common comorbid condition in patients with COPD alone and coexisting COPD and heart failure was essential (primary) hypertension coded with either 110 or 110.9 while in patients with heart failure alone the most comorbid condition was atrial fibrillation coded with I48 or I48.9. The comorbid diagnoses are summarized in Table 4.

Table 4 Summary of the most common	ı diagnostic coc	les.						
Patients with COPD n=3736	Code	Number (%)	Patients with heart failure n=4839	Code	Number (%)	Patients with COPD and heart failure n=700	Code	Number (%)
Essential (primary) hypertension	110, 110.9	1196 (32)	Atrial fibrillation and atrial flutter, unspecified	148, 1.48.9	2311 (47.8)	Essential (primary) hypertension	110, 110.9	284 (40.6)
Observation for suspected disease or condition	Z039	628 (16.8)	Essential (primary) hypertension	110, 110.9	2303 (47.6)	Observation for suspected disease or condition	Z03.9	251 (35.9)
Heart failure, unspecified	I50.9	526 (14.1)	Observation for suspected disease or condition	Z03.9	1472 (30.4)	Atrial fibrillation and atrial flutter, unspecified	I48.9	199 (28.4)
Unspecified acute lower respiratory infection	J22	383 (10.3)	Chronic ischemic heart disease, unspecified	125.9	1427(29.5)	Old myocardial infarction	125.2	166 (23.7)
Type 2 diabetes mellitus, without complications	E11.9	350 (9.4)	Type 2 diabetes mellitus, without complications	E11.9	958 (19.8)	Type 2 diabetes mellitus, without complications	E11.9	149 (21.3)
Atrial fibrillation and atrial flutter, unspecified	148.9	312 (8.4)	Old myocardial infarction	125.2	910 (18.8)	Chronic ischemic heart disease, unspecified	125.9	136 (19.4)

The levels of other comorbidities were significantly higher in patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD compared to patients with heart failure or COPD alone (Table 5).

Table 5.

Distribution of levels of other comorbidities measured by RUB (resource utilization band) in the study population.

	Total	Patients without COPD		Patients with COPD		p-value*
		No heart failure	Heart failure	No heart failure	Heart failure	
RUB 0	102071 (32.51%)	101835 (33,34%)	81 (1,65%)	150 (4.49%)	5 (0.71%)	0.000
RUB 1	44126 (14.05%)	43855 (14.36%)	86 (1,78%)	181 (5.96%)	4 (0.57%)	0.001
RUB 2	65322 (20.8%)	64533 (21.13%)	282 (5.83%)	481 (15.84%)	26 (3.71%)	0.000
RUB 3	89042 (28.36%)	84602 (27.7%)	2514 (51.95%)	1603 (52.80%)	323 (46.14%)	0.000
RUB 4	10383 (3.31%)	8512 (2.79%)	1234 (25.50%)	434 (14.30%)	203 (29%)	0.000
RUB 5	3033 (0.97%)	2065 (0.68%)	642 (13.27%)	187 (6.16%)	139 (19.89%)	0.000
Total	313977 (100%)	305402 (100%)	4839 (100%)	3036 (100%)	700 (100%)	0.000
*** unlos docor	has differences bottom	around with and without CODD		_		

p-value describes differences between groups with and without CUPD

The proportion of individuals with higher levels of other comorbidities (RUB 3-5) was 95% in the group with coexisting COPD and heart failure, while in the group with heart failure alone it was 90.7% and in the group with COPD alone it was 73.3%.

Primary care was the only care provider to 36.2% of patients with a diagnosis of heart failure and 20.7% of patients with coexisting COPD and heart failure. Furthermore, primary care participated in shared care of 21.5% of patients with the diagnosis of heart failure alone and 21.7% of patients with coexisting diagnoses of heart failure and COPD.

The share of care given by primary- and secondary care varied depending on levels of other comorbidities both in patients with heart failure without COPD and patients with coexisting COPD and heart failure (Figure 4).





Figure 4.

Share of care in patients with heart failure without (A) and with (B) chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

The higher the level of other comorbidities the larger was the participation of secondary care. Among patients with the highest level of other comorbidities (RUB 5) in the group with coexisting COPD and heart failure, 11% received care only in primary care, 29% received shared care and 60% received care only in secondary care.

Paper IV

The study population consisted of 91 227 individuals aged \geq 35 years of which 51.1% were female and 48.9% were male. The diagnosis of COPD was registered in 1011 individuals of which 27 (2.7%) moved and were excluded from the study. The final analyses were made on data from 984 individuals of which 53% were female and 47% were male. The mean age in patients with the diagnosis of COPD was 71.1 (95% CI 70.4-71.8). The mean age for women was 69.4 (95% CI 68.5-70.4) and for men 72.9 (95% CI 72.0-73.8).

Comorbidity levels described by RUB were distributed as follows: RUB 3- 71.14 % (n=700), RUB 4 -21.65% (n=213), RUB 5 -7.22% (n=71).

We found a diagnosis of heart failure in 10.06% (n=99) of patients with the diagnosis of COPD.

Univariate analysis resulted in an odds ratio of 7-year mortality of 7.06 (95% CI 3.88-12.84) in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure. The level of other comorbidities was the next most important variable which influenced mortality (Table 6).

Table 6.

Odds ratios of mortality in patients with COPD - univariate analyses of different variables used.

Univariate	OR (95%CI)
Heart failure	7.06 (3.88-12.84)
Age	1.13 (1.11-1.14)
Male sex	1.78 (1.38-2.30)
RUB 4	2.03 (1.48-2.78)
RUB 5	4.78 (2.61-8.74)

Adjusting for age resulted in odds ratio 3.76 (95% CI 1.98-7.16) and for age and male sex in odds ratio 3.75 (95% CI 1.79-3.26 (1.70-6.25). Further adjusting for other comorbidities resulted in odds ratio 3.26 (95% CI 1.70-6.25). Adjusted odds ratios are presented in Table 7.

Table 7.

Odds Ratios (OR) of mortality in heart failure in patients with COPD adjusted for different variables used.

Variables	OR (95%CI)
Heart failure	7.06 (3.88-12.84)
Heart failure, age	3.76 (1.98-7.16)
Heart failure, age, male sex	3.75 (1.97-7.15)
Heart failure, age, male sex, other comorbidities	3.26 (1.70-6.25)

Multiple logistic regression showed that mortality was associated with age and male sex but the strongest risk factor for mortality was the highest comorbidity level – RUB 5 where the odds ratio was 5.19 (95% CI 2.59-10.38). Results are presented in Table 8.

Table 8.

Importance of different variables for mortality in patients with COPD. Odds ratios (OR) were adjusted for all other variables.

Variables	Adjusted OR (95%CI)
Heart failure	3.26 (1.70-6.25)
Age	1.12 (1.10-1.14)
Male sex	1.37 (1.02-1.85)
RUB 4	1.82 (1.26-2.65)
RUB 5	5.19 (2.59-10.38)

Discussion

Summary of the main results

We found heart failure in 5.6% of the study population using NT-proBNP as an initial step for the diagnosis of heart failure in patients with COPD in Swedish primary care. This was considerably less than expected based on the results of previous studies [53, 68].

When using ICG in assessment of left ventricular function in patients with stable heart failure, we found that only three of four ICG parameters, which describe systolic function of left ventricle, were significantly associated with EF measured by echocardiography. However, no association between ICG parameters describing cardiac work and ejection fraction by echocardiography was found.

The prevalence of heart failure in patients with COPD in the Swedish population found in paper III was 18.8%, whereas in patients without COPD it was 1.6%. After standardizing for age the prevalence was 9.9% and 1.5%, respectively. Standardized relative risk for the diagnosis of heart failure in patients with COPD was 6.6. The prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure in patients with the diagnosis of COPD found in paper IV was 10.1%.

The levels of other comorbidities were significantly higher in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure compared to patients with either COPD or heart failure alone. Swedish primary care participates to a great extent in the care of patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure. Mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure is, as expected, higher than in patients with COPD alone. Age, male sex and other comorbidities are risk factors for mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure of which other comorbidities have the most importance.

Strengths and limitations

Paper I

The most important limitation of this study was a high drop-out rate. When planning the study, a sample size analysis was made in order to estimate the precision of the study. If the prevalence in this study was 20.5% as previously reported [53] and 100 patients participated in the study, 95% CI would be 13-29%. If the prevalence in the study population were lower than 20.5%, 95% CI would be 5-18%. The precision in both cases was considered good enough. The inclusion and exclusion criteria were clearly defined in order to find an eligible study population. There were a number of reasons for the low participation, which were not anticipated. The study was conducted in two different primary care centers; one located in a smaller community (Olofström) and the other one in a larger town (Karlskrona). A total of 172 patients who met the inclusion criteria were found to be eligible to participate in the study: a diagnosis of COPD in medical records and an age of 65 years or more. None of the patients met the exclusion criteria. The participation rate was, however, low. The low participation rate could not be explained by age or sex. The participation rate differed between the two primary care centers. Only 41% of eligible patients in Karlskrona gave consent to participate compared to 60.7% in Olofström. The proximity to hospital and secondary care units in Karlskrona was considered a possible explanation and therefore the diagnosis registers were analyzed with respect to prevalence of COPD patients from the participating primary care centers; only 15 patients from the primary care center in Karlskrona and 11 from Olofström were found. This suggested that management in secondary care was not the reason for the low participation in Karlskrona.

Despite the fact that diagnosing of COPD using spirometry was well-established in Swedish primary care, it was surprising that the diagnosis of COPD could not be confirmed in 29% of participants, which was another reason for drop-out. The study procedure was anchored in clinical practice and present guidelines for the diagnosis of heart failure [69]. The tools available for the Swedish general practitioner when making the diagnosis of heart failure were used in a structured way; the same for each participant and under routine conditions. This should be considered as the strength of the study because it could show how those tools worked in real life in primary health care. The whole study was driven by the hypothesis that testing of NT-proBNP can be a tool for a general practitioner in order to find patients with suspected heart failure among patients with COPD eligible for further examination with echocardiography. Various alternatives regarding the choice of the cut-off point of NT- BNP for the purpose of the study were deliberated in the research group. The study population consisted of elderly

people whose levels of NT-proBNP are higher [70]. Even COPD alone could result in elevated levels of NT-pro BNP [71]. Studies from emergency settings suggested different cut-off points depending on age: in patients aged 50-75 years 900 ng/l and in patients \geq 75 years 1800 ng/l [70]. Two threshold values of NTproBNP were used in the guidelines for the diagnosis of chronic heart failure[69]. The diagnosis of chronic heart failure was considered unlikely below 400 pg/ml, likely above 2000 pg/ml and uncertain in between. The lower threshold did not seem to be appropriate with regard to age and presence of COPD and the mean of two thresholds – the value of 1200 pg/ml was chosen for the purpose of this study. Other comorbidities and medication, which can influence NT-proBNP values, were not analyzed because the study was considered to be too small for such analysis. The level of 125 pg/ml was suggested as 'the optimal cut point' in patients with COPD aged 65 years and older with regard to comorbidities and medication [72]. The same level was suggested in the study conducted in the general population in primary care aged 21-80 years [73]. That study was published after our study and suggested the level of 125 pg/ml in order to riskstratify waiting lists for echocardiography after referral from primary care. That level, however, is considerably lower than recommended by ESC. Eventually, NTproBNP value of 1200 pg/ml was arbitrarily chosen.

Paper II

Similar to paper I, the limitation of this study was the small number of participants. Consent for participation was obtained from 37 out of 63 (58.7%) patients registered at a heart failure unit. The way to raise participation might have been to send a reminder, which was not done.

Paper III and IV

These were register-based studies. The primary source of data in both studies were health care registers from routine care. The strength of those studies was that the data covered the whole population in the Östergötland County in paper III and in Blekinge County in paper IV.

The main limitations were completeness of the data and validity of the diagnoses. In both registers, all consultations were recorded in electronic charts and the diagnosis was required at each consultation. In both studies, the data were analyzed from both primary- and secondary care in order to increase completeness of the data.

Validity of the diagnoses is frequently called into question in register studies. Validating of the diagnoses demands time and effort and it is difficult to carry out with each use of register data for research purposes. We had access to coded data and validating of the diagnoses was not possible due to ethical reasons and legal

regulations. We had to rely on previous studies in which the diagnoses of COPD and heart failure in Swedish registers were considered to be acceptable for being used in epidemiological research [74, 75].

The Care Data Warehouse register in Östergötland was considered useful in estimating the prevalence of chronic diseases such as diabetes, hypertension, ischemic heart disease, asthma and COPD. The period of analysis corresponded to better capturing of cases [76]. The one-year period was analyzed to capture the diagnosis of COPD in both studies. That choice was anchored in Swedish clinical practice where patients with COPD are actively checked and summoned for a nurse-led follow-up at least once a year.

Meaning of the results.

Paper I showed the difficulties in diagnosing of heart failure in patients with COPD in primary health care. The diagnostic tools, which are available for the general practitioner, are not sufficient and do not allow an accurate diagnosis of heart failure in patients with COPD. Heart failure might be underdiagnosed in patients with COPD.

The use of impedance cardiography in order to determine left ventricular function and increase the accuracy of the diagnosis of heart failure cannot be recommended due to ambiguity regarding interpretation of the results which was showed in paper II. Paper III showed that heart failure in patients with COPD is common in the Swedish population. Patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure have higher levels of other comorbidities than patients with COPD or heart failure alone. This group of multimorbid patients, with high need of care, is managed to a great extent by Swedish primary care. Paper IV showed that coexisting heart failure considerably increases the odds of mortality in patients with COPD. The mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure is strongly associated with age, male sex and other comorbidities but other comorbidities are the strongest predictor.

Conclusion

This thesis contributes to the field of the research regarding COPD, heart failure and multimorbidity in primary care.

Paper I points to diagnostic difficulties and shows the need for better procedures when diagnosing heart failure in patients with COPD. ICG is a tempting method but its' use in order to increase the accuracy of heart failure diagnosis needs further experience and research. Epidemiological studies, which the thesis contains, deal with prevalence of heart failure and other comorbidities in patients with COPD. Heart failure is common in patients with COPD in the Swedish population. Patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure are characterized by higher levels of other comorbidities than patients with COPD or heart failure alone. Other comorbidities significantly influence survival in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure. In Sweden, primary care participates to a great extent in the care of patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure. Early recognition and adequate treatment of these patients is important in order to improve survival rates.

Future studies

The findings of the diagnostic and epidemiological parts of this thesis can give ideas when planning further studies. Diagnostic procedures in primary care should be revised with regards to multimorbidity. Guidelines concerning separate diseases are not easily applicable in multimorbid patients. ICG is still an interesting tool when diagnosing and monitoring heart failure. As a continuation of the epidemiological part, further work should be considered in order to find what kind of other comorbidities are of importance in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure, what kind of patients in this group tend to have more other comorbidities and find factors of importance.

Primary care in future is going to face multimorbidity to a greater extent than secondary care. The majority of older patients, where multimorbidity is common, are treated in primary care; it will be a challenge to find ways to study multimorbidity. Swedish primary care has an excellent opportunity to conduct population based research due to access to large databases in the form of diagnosis based registers at an individual level. It would be preferable to use register based data directly in scientific research if the quality of data was validated, which is not often the case. It should be a common interest that data in registers would have a good validity and completeness. Cross referencing patients in registers regarding chronic diseases may generate hypotheses for futures studies concerning multimorbidity. Based on those hypotheses, we would be able to design prospective studies in order to learn more about multimorbidity and find factors which influence different outcomes in multimorbid patients.

Svensk sammanfattning

Det finns flera anledningar att studera samtidig förekomst av kronisk obstruktiv lungsjukdom (KOL) och hjärtsvikt. Först och främst är det två kroniska sjukdomar som har hög prevalens i samhället. Risken att utveckla hjärtsvikt hos patienter med KOL är fyra och en halv gång högre än i åldersmatchade kontroller. Prevalensen av ej diagnosticerad hjärtsvikt hos patienter med KOL äldre än 65 år i primärvården är cirka 20%. Prevalensen av KOL hos patienter med hjärtsvikt ligger också runt 20%. Hjärtsvikt är associerat med dålig prognos och hög dödlighet. Femårs mortaliteten hos patienter med hjärtsvikt är sex gånger högre än i den generella populationen. KOL och hjärtsvikt har gemensamma, ospecifika symtom som gör att hjärtsvikt kan förbises hos patienter med KOL och vice versa. Prevalensen och sjukdomsbördan av hjärtsvikt och KOL ökar med stigande ålder. Andelen äldre i Sverige är den högsta i världen med 17,4% av personer i åldern \geq 65 år och förväntas öka fram till år 2020. Omhändertagande av patienter med samtidig hjärtsvikt och KOL kommer att bli en utmaning för den framtida sjukvården. Trots att hjärtsvikt och KOL ofta förekommer samtidigt och har allvarliga kliniska och ekonomiska konsekvenser, har sjukdomarna mestadels studerats separat, särskilt på populationsnivå.

Syftet med denna avhandling var att beskriva diagnostiska och epidemiologiska aspekter av KOL och samtidig förekomst av hjärtsvikt och att utvärdera impedanskardiografi som en metod som skulle kunna tillämpas för bedömning av hjärtfunktionen hos patienter med hjärtsvikt i primärvården på ett enkelt sätt.

Avhandlingen består av fyra delarbeten vars specifika syften var följande:

- 1. Att beskriva hur den rekommenderade utredningsgången för att diagnostisera hjärtsvikt hos patienter med KOL fungerar i primärvården. Den utredningsgång som är tillgänglig i primärvården består av anamnes, klinisk undersökning och provtagning av natriuretiska peptider, i vårt fall NT-proBNP. För att ställa en tillförlitlig hjärtsviktsdiagnos remitteras patienter för ekokardiografi som utförs inom sekundär vård.
- 2. Att finna vilka impedanskardiografiska parametrar som är associerade med ejektion fraktion mätt med ekokardiografi som är gold standard för bedömning av den systoliska vänsterkammarfunktionen.
- 3. Att studera förekomsten av hjärtsvikt hos patienter med KOL i den svenska befolkningen, beskriva var patienter med KOL och samtidig

hjärtsvikt erhåller vård och beskriva annan komorbiditet hos patienter med KOL och samtidig hjärtsvikt.

4. Att beskriva betydelsen av annan komorbiditet och hjärtsvikt för dödlighet hos patienter med KOL.

Med användning av NT-proBNP som ett första steg för att diagnostisera hjärtsvikt hos patienter med KOL i primärvården hittades betydligt färre patienter med hjärtsvikt än förväntat från resultaten från tidigare studier. De diagnostiska verktyg som finns tillgängliga för allmänläkaren är inte tillräckliga och tillåter inte en säker diagnos av hjärtsvikt hos patienter med KOL.

Parallell undersökning med impedanskardiografi och ekokardiografi hos patienter med kronisk hjärtsvikt visade signifikant association mellan tre av fyra impedanskardiografiska parametrar som beskriver den systoliska vänsterkammarfunktionen och ejektions fraktion mätt med ekokardiografi. Tidigare rapporterade associationer mellan andra impedanskardiografiska parametrar som ansågs beskriva den systoliska vänsterkammarfunktionen kunde inte bekräftas. På grund av tvetydighet vad gäller tolkningen av resultaten kan tillämpning av impedanskardiografi för att bedöma vänsterkammarfunktionen inte rekommenderas enligt resultaten i avhandlingens delarbete 2.

Förekomsten av hjärtsvikt hos patienter med KOL i den svenska populationen var 18,8% medan hos patienter utan KOL var det 1,6%. Efter standardisering för ålder var prevalensen 9,9% respektive 1,5%. Standardiserad relativ risk för hjärtsvikt hos patienter med KOL var 6,6. Annan komorbiditet var signifikant högre hos patienter med KOL och samtidig hjärtsvikt jämfört med patienter med antingen enbart KOL eller hjärtsvikt. Den svenska primärvården deltar i stor utsträckning i vård av patienter med KOL och samtidig hjärtsvikt.

Dödlighet hos patienter med KOL och samtidig hjärtsvikt är 7 gånger högre än hos patienter med enbart KOL. Ålder, manlig kön och annan komorbiditet är riskfaktorer för dödlighet hos patienter med KOL och samtidig hjärtsvikt, varav annan komorbiditet har den största betydelsen. Därför antyder resultaten att det är viktigt att hjärtsvikt och annan komorbiditet hos patienter med KOL upptäcks så tidigt som möjligt och behandlas adekvat.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my warmest gratitude to the following: Patients who participated in my studies.

Anders Halling, my main supervisor for introducing me to research and for supporting me during the work with this thesis.

Håkan Odeberg and Lennart Råstam, my co-supervisors for support and valuable comments to my papers.

All the teachers at The National Research School in General Practice especially Lars- Hjalmar Lindholm, Olle Rolandsson, Cecilia Björkelund, Sigvard Mölstad, Kristina Bengtsson Boström, Stuart Spencer and Simon Griffin for your enthusiasm, engagement and all efforts to raise the importance of research in general practice. My fellow PhD students in group 1 for inspiring meetings and Maria Boström for all her support.

Bart Wagner and Sergej Scheel for great cooperation and fine co-authorship.

Lars Borgquist for help with material to paper III, Karin Ranstad and Leif Fransson for help with material to paper IV.

Gerd Fridh, previous head of PHC in Blekinge and Liselotte Brunnberg, my previous head at primary care centre in Olofström for giving me the opportunity to perform my research.

My present head of primary care centre in Blekinge Ros-Marie Nilsson and Anna Svensson the head of PHCs Education Unit in Karlshamn for giving me the opportunity to complete this thesis.

My colleagues and staff at primary care centre in Olofström, especially asthma/COPD nurse Vivianne Johansson and all colleagues and staff at PHCs Education Unit and Samaritens PHC centre in Karlshamn for showing understanding and appreciation of my research.

The staff at the Center for Primary Care Research, Family Medicine, Department of Clinical Sciences in Malmö, Lund University and Blekinge Competence Centre for administrative support. The staff at Blekinge Competence Centre's library, in particular Mats Reenbom for helping me with tricky references.

Anna Machowska for help with the English language and encouragement for further work.

Patrick Reilly for revision of the English language in this thesis.

Special thanks to Tommy Johansson and Hans Åkesson for your invaluable support when it was most needed!

Last but not least my dearest family and wonderful friends for believing in me!

The studies were supported by research grants from Blekinge- and Skåne County Councils.

References

- 1. Mulrow CD, Lucey CR, Farnett LE: Discriminating causes of dyspnea through clinical examination. J Gen Intern Med 1993, 8(7):383-392.
- 2. Swedish national care program for COPD [http://slmf.se/kol/huvudpunkter/]
- 3. RiksSvikt, Swedish National Heart Failure Register [http://www.ucr.uu.se/rikssvikt/]
- 4. Chronic respiratory diseases [http://www.who.int/respiratory/copd/burden/en/]
- 5. Hobbs FD. Roalfe AK. Davis RC. Davies MK. Hare R. Midlands Research Practices Consortium (MidReC): Prognosis of all-cause heart failure and borderline left ventricular systolic dysfunction: 5 year mortality follow-up of the Echocardiographic Heart of England Screening Study (ECHOES). Eur Heart J 2007, 28(9):1128-1134.
- 6. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JG, Coats AJ, Falk V, Gonzalez-Juanatey JR, Harjola VP, Jankowska EA, Jessup M, Linde C, Nihoyannopoulos P, Parissis JT, Pieske B, Riley JP, Rosano GM, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Rutten FH, van der Meer P, Authors/Task Force Members, Document Reviewers: 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur J Heart Fail 2016, 18(8):891-975.
- 7. Global initiative for chronic obstructive lung disease [http://goldcopd.org/gold-2017-global-strategy-diagnosis-management-prevention-copd/]
- 8. Swedish national care program for COPD [http://slmf.se/kol/niva-2/diagnostik/]
- 9. Management of asthma and COPD, *Vård vid astma och KOL : stöd för styrning och ledning:* Stockholm: Socialstyrelsen; 2015.
- 10. Larsson K, Lindberg A: Chronic obstuctive lung disease (COPD)- epidemiologi and diagnostic. In *Läkemedelsbehandling av kroniskt obstruktiv lungsjukdom (KOL) bakgrundsmaterial*. Edited by Uppsala: Läkemedelsverket; 2015:2-11.
- 11. Wood PH: *Paul Wood's Diseases of the heart and circulation.* 3. ed., rev. and enlarged by his friends and colleagues ed. London: Eyre & Spottiswoode; 1968.
- 12. Poole-Wilson P: Heart failure. Med Int 1985, 2:866-871.
- 13. Swedberg K, Cleland J, Dargie H, Drexler H, Follath F, Komajda M, Tavazzi L, Smiseth OA, Gavazzi A, Haverich A, Hoes A, Jaarsma T, Korewicki J, Levy S, Linde C, Lopez-Sendon JL, Nieminen MS, Pierard L, Remme WJ, Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Chronic Heart Failure of the European Society of Cardiology: Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of chronic heart failure:

executive summary (update 2005): The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Chronic Heart Failure of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J 2005, **26**(11):1115-1140.

- 14. Hunt SA, Abraham WT, Chin MH, Feldman AM, Francis GS, Ganiats TG, Jessup M, Konstam MA, Mancini DM, Michl K: ACC/AHA 2005 guideline update for the diagnosis and management of chronic heart failure in the adult—summary article. Circulation 2005, 112(12):1825-1852.
- 15. Sorrell VL, Stewart W: Echocardiography--the gold standard of the new millennium: replacing the historical gold standard of cardiac catheterization. Echocardiography 2001, **18**(1):29-30.
- 16. Paulus WJ, Tschöpe C, Sanderson JE, Rusconi C, Flachskampf FA, Rademakers FE, Marino P, Smiseth OA, De Keulenaer G, Leite-Moreira AF: How to diagnose diastolic heart failure: a consensus statement on the diagnosis of heart failure with normal left ventricular ejection fraction by the Heart Failure and Echocardiography Associations of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J 2007, 28(20):2539-2550.
- Raphael C, Briscoe C, Davies J, Ian Whinnett Z, Manisty C, Sutton R, Mayet J, Francis DP: Limitations of the New York Heart Association functional classification system and self-reported walking distances in chronic heart failure. Heart 2007, 93(4):476-482.
- 18. Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DE, Jr, Drazner MH, Fonarow GC, Geraci SA, Horwich T, Januzzi JL, Johnson MR, Kasper EK, Levy WC, Masoudi FA, McBride PE, McMurray JJ, Mitchell JE, Peterson PN, Riegel B, Sam F, Stevenson LW, Tang WH, Tsai EJ, Wilkoff BL, American College of Cardiology Foundation, American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines: 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 2013, 62(16):e147-239.
- Lundbäck B, Lindberg A, Lindström M, Rönmark E, Jonsson AC, Jönsson E, Larsson LG, Andersson S, Sandström T, Larsson K, Obstructive Lung Disease in Northern Sweden Studies: Not 15 but 50% of smokers develop COPD?--Report from the Obstructive Lung Disease in Northern Sweden Studies. Respir Med 2003, 97(2):115-122.
- 20. Backman H, Eriksson B, Rönmark E, Hedman L, Stridsman C, Jansson SA, Lindberg A, Lundbäck B: Decreased prevalence of moderate to severe COPD over 15 years in northern Sweden. Respir Med 2016, 114:103-110.
- 21. Mejhert M, Persson H, Edner M, Kahan T: **Epidemiology of heart failure in Sweden**-a national survey. European Journal of Heart Failure 2001, **3**(1):97-103.
- 22. Zarrinkoub R, Wettermark B, Wändell P, Mejhert M, Szulkin R, Ljunggren G, Kahan T: The epidemiology of heart failure, based on data for 2.1 million inhabitants in Sweden. European Journal of Heart Failure 2013, 15(9):995-1002.
- 23. Jansson SA, Backman H, Stenling A, Lindberg A, Rönmark E, Lundbäck B: Health economic costs of COPD in Sweden by disease severity--has it changed during a ten years period? Respir Med 2013, 107(12):1931-1938.

- 24. Rydén-Bergsten T, Andersson F: The health care costs of heart failure in Sweden. J Intern Med 1999, **246**(3):275-284.
- 25. Mejhert M, Lindgren P, Schill O, Edner M, Persson H, Kahan T: Long term health care consumption and cost expenditure in systolic heart failure. Eur J Intern Med 2013, 24(3):260-265.
- 26. Global strategy for Diagnosis. Management and Prevention of COPD.[http://www.goldcopd.org/uploads/users/files/WatermarkedGlobal%20Strate gy%202016(1).pdf]
- Lisspers K, Stallberg B, Hasselgren M, Johansson G, Svärdsudd K: Organisation of asthma care in primary health care in Mid-Sweden. Prim Care Respir J 2005, 14(3):147-153.
- Löfdahl CG, Tilling B, Ekström T, Jörgensen L, Johansson G, Larsson K: COPD health care in Sweden - A study in primary and secondary care. Respir Med 2010, 104(3):404-411.
- 29. Cline CM, Boman K, Holst M, Erhardt LR, Swedish Society of Cardiology Working Group for Heart, Failure: **The management of heart failure in Sweden.** Eur J Heart Fail 2002, **4**(3):373-376.
- 30. Dahlström U, Håkansson J, Swedberg K, Waldenström A: Adequacy of diagnosis and treatment of chronic heart failure in primary health care in Sweden. Eur J Heart Fail 2009, 11(1):92-98.
- 31. Skånér Y, Backlund L, Montgomery H, Bring J, Strender LE: General practitioners' reasoning when considering the diagnosis heart failure: a think-aloud study. BMC Fam Pract 2005, 6(1):4.
- 32. Maisel A, Mueller C, Adams K, Jr, Anker SD, Aspromonte N, Cleland JG, Cohen-Solal A, Dahlstrom U, DeMaria A, Di Somma S, Filippatos GS, Fonarow GC, Jourdain P, Komajda M, Liu PP, McDonagh T, McDonald K, Mebazaa A, Nieminen MS, Peacock WF, Tubaro M, Valle R, Vanderhyden M, Yancy CW, Zannad F, Braunwald E: State of the art: using natriuretic peptide levels in clinical practice. Eur J Heart Fail 2008, 10(9):824-839.
- 33. Sudoh T, Minamino N, Kangawa K, Matsuo H: Brain natriuretic peptide-32: Nterminal six amino acid extended form of brain natriuretic peptide identified in porcine brain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1988, 155(2):726-732.
- 34. Nakagawa O, Ogawa Y, Itoh H, Suga S, Komatsu Y, Kishimoto I, Nishino K, Yoshimasa T, Nakao K: Rapid transcriptional activation and early mRNA turnover of brain natriuretic peptide in cardiocyte hypertrophy. Evidence for brain natriuretic peptide as an "emergency" cardiac hormone against ventricular overload. J Clin Invest 1995, 96(3):1280-1287.
- 35. Cowie MR, Struthers AD, Wood DA, Coats AJ, Thompson SG, Poole-Wilson PA, Sutton GC: Value of natriuretic peptides in assessment of patients with possible new heart failure in primary care. The Lancet 1997, 350(9088):1349-1353.
- 36. Januzzi JL, Jr, Camargo CA, Anwaruddin S, Baggish AL, Chen AA, Krauser DG, Tung R, Cameron R, Nagurney JT, Chae CU, Lloyd-Jones DM, Brown DF, Foran-Melanson S, Sluss PM, Lee-Lewandrowski E, Lewandrowski KB: The N-terminal

Pro-BNP investigation of dyspnea in the emergency department (PRIDE) study. Am J Cardiol 2005, **95**(8):948-954.

- 37. Nieminen MS, Bohm M, Cowie MR, Drexler H, Filippatos GS, Jondeau G, Hasin Y, Lopez-Sendon J, Mebazaa A, Metra M, Rhodes A, Swedberg K, Priori SG, Garcia MA, Blanc JJ, Budaj A, Cowie MR, Dean V, Deckers J, Burgos EF, Lekakis J, Lindahl B, Mazzotta G, Morais J, Oto A, Smiseth OA, Garcia MA, Dickstein K, Albuquerque A, Conthe P, Crespo-Leiro M, Ferrari R, Follath F, Gavazzi A, Janssens U, Komajda M, Morais J, Moreno R, Singer M, Singh S, Tendera M, Thygesen K, ESC Committe for Practice Guideline (CPG): Executive summary of the guidelines on the diagnosis and treatment of acute heart failure: the Task Force on Acute Heart Failure of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur Heart J 2005, 26(4):384-416.
- 38. ACC/AHA collaborate on guidelines for the evaluation and management of heart failure. Am Fam Physician 1996, **53**(6):2196-2198.
- Balion CM, Santaguida P, McKelvie R, Hill SA, McQueen MJ, Worster A, Raina PS: Physiological, pathological, pharmacological, biochemical and hematological factors affecting BNP and NT-proBNP. Clin Biochem 2008, 41(4):231-239.
- 40. Fuller HD: The validity of cardiac output measurement by thoracic impedance: a meta-analysis. Clin Invest Med 1992, **15**(2):103-112.
- Greenberg BH, Hermann DD, Pranulis MF, Lazio L, Cloutier D: Reproducibility of impedance cardiography hemodynamic measures in clinically stable heart failure patients. Congest Heart Fail 2000, 6(2):74-80.
- 42. DeMarzo AP, Calvin JE, Kelly RF, Stamos TD: Using impedance cardiography to assess left ventricular systolic function via postural change in patients with heart failure. Prog Cardiovasc Nurs 2005, **20**(4):163-167.
- 43. Packer M. Abraham WT. Mehra MR. Yancy CW. Lawless CE. Mitchell JE. Smart FW. Bijou R. O'Connor CM. Massie BM. Pina IL. Greenberg BH. Young JB. Fishbein DP. Hauptman PJ. Bourge RC. Strobeck JE. Murali S. Schocken D. Teerlink JR. Levy WC. Trupp RJ. Silver MA. Prospective Evaluation and Identification of Cardiac Decompensation by ICG Test (PREDICT) Study Investigators and Coordinators: Utility of impedance cardiography for the identification of short-term risk of clinical decompensation in stable patients with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006, 47(11):2245-2252.
- 44. Strobeck JE, Silver MA: Beyond the four quadrants: the critical and emerging role of impedance cardiography in heart failure. Congest Heart Fail 2004, 10(2 Suppl 2):1-6.
- 45. Parrott CW, Burnham KM, Quale C, Lewis DL: Comparison of changes in ejection fraction to changes in impedance cardiography cardiac index and systolic time ratio. Congest Heart Fail 2004, 10(2 Suppl 2):11-13.
- 46. Silver MA, Cianci P, Brennan S, Longeran-Thomas H, Ahmad F: **Evaluation of impedance cardiography as an alternative to pulmonary artery catheterization in critically ill patients.** Congest Heart Fail 2004, **10**(2 Suppl 2):17-21.
- 47. Maclay JD, MacNee W: Cardiovascular disease in COPD: mechanisms. Chest 2013, 143(3):798-807.

- 48. Fabbri LM, Luppi F, Beghe B, Rabe KF: Complex chronic comorbidities of COPD. European Respiratory Journal 2008, **31**(1):204-212.
- 49. Feary JR, Rodrigues LC, Smith CJ, Hubbard RB, Gibson JE: Prevalence of major comorbidities in subjects with COPD and incidence of myocardial infarction and stroke: a comprehensive analysis using data from primary care. Thorax 2010, 65(11):956-962.
- Eriksson B, Lindberg A, Mullerova H, Rönmark E, Lundbäck B: Association of heart diseases with COPD and restrictive lung function-Results from a population survey. Respir Med 2013, 107(1):98-106.
- 51. Curkendall SM, DeLuise C, Jones JK, Lanes S, Stang MR, Goehring E, Jr, She D: Cardiovascular disease in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, Saskatchewan Canada cardiovascular disease in COPD patients. Ann Epidemiol 2006, 16(1):63-70.
- 52. Rutten FH, Cramer MJ, Lammers JW, Grobbee DE, Hoes AW: Heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: An ignored combination? European Journal of Heart Failure 2006, 8(7):706-711.
- 53. Rutten FH, Cramer MJ, Grobbee DE, Sachs AP, Kirkels JH, Lammers JW, Hoes AW: Unrecognized heart failure in elderly patients with stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur Heart J 2005, 26(18):1887-1894.
- 54. Population projection for Sweden 2003-2050: Stockholm: Swedish Central Statistic Office.; 2003.
- 55. Fortin M, Bravo G, Hudon C, Vanasse A, Lapointe L: **Prevalence of multimorbidity among adults seen in family practice.** Ann Fam Med 2005, **3**(3):223-228.
- 56. Feary JR, Rodrigues LC, Smith CJ, Hubbard RB, Gibson JE: Prevalence of major comorbidities in subjects with COPD and incidence of myocardial infarction and stroke: A comprehensive analysis using data from primary care. Thorax 2010, 65(11):956-962.
- 57. Garcia Rodriguez LA, Wallander M-, Martin-Merino E, Johansson S: Heart failure, myocardial infarction, lung cancer and death in COPD patients: A UK primary care study. Respir Med 2010, 104(11):1691-1699.
- Lange P, Mogelvang R, Marott JL, Vestbo J, Jensen JS: Cardiovascular morbidity in COPD: A study of the general population. Copd 2010, 7(1):5-10.
- 59. van der Wel MC, Jansen RWMM, Bakx JC, Bor HHJ, OldeRikkert MGM, van Weel C: Non-cardiovascular co-morbidity in elderly patients with heart failure outnumbers cardiovascular co-morbidity. European Journal of Heart Failure 2007, 9(6-7):709-715.
- 60. Moser DK, Dracup K, Evangelista LS, Zambroski CH, Lennie TA, Chung ML, Doering LV, Westlake C, Heo S: Comparison of prevalence of symptoms of depression, anxiety, and hostility in elderly patients with heart failure, myocardial infarction, and a coronary artery bypass graft. Heart and Lung: Journal of Acute and Critical Care 2010, **39**(5):378-385.
- 61. Dahlström U: Frequent non-cardiac comorbidities in patients with chronic heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 2005, 7(3):309-316.

- 62. Sin DD, Anthonisen NR, Soriano JB, Agusti AG: Mortality in COPD: Role of comorbidities. Eur Respir J 2006, 28(6):1245-1257.
- 63. Oudejans I, Mosterd A, Zuithoff NP, Hoes AW: Comorbidity drives mortality in newly diagnosed heart failure: a study among geriatric outpatients. J Card Fail 2012, 18(1):47-52.
- 64. Charlson M, Charlson RE, Briggs W, Hollenberg J: Can disease management target patients most likely to generate high costs? The impact of comorbidity. J Gen Intern Med 2007, 22(4):464-469.
- 65. Population in the country, counties and municipalities. December 2007. Swedish Central Statistic Office [www.scb.se]
- 66. Wiréhn A: A data-rich world : population-based registers in healthcare research. Department of Medicine and Health Sciences, Linköping University, Linköping; 2007
- 67. Niccomo Impedance Cardiography. https://medis.company/cms/index.php? page=icg-impedance-cardiography. 2017.
- 68. Rutten FH, Cramer MJ, Lammers JW, Grobbee DE, Hoes AW: Heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: An ignored combination? Eur J Heart Fail 2006, 8(7):706-711.
- 69. European Society of Cardiology. Heart Failure Association of the ESC (HFA). European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM). Dickstein K. Cohen-Solal A. Filippatos G. McMurray JJ. Ponikowski P. et al.: ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008: the Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008 of the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association of the ESC (HFA) and endorsed by the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM). European Journal of Heart Failure 2008, 10(10):933-989.
- 70. Januzzi JL, van Kimmenade R, Lainchbury J, Bayes-Genis A, Ordonez-Llanos J, Santalo-Bel M, Pinto YM, Richards M: NT-proBNP testing for diagnosis and short-term prognosis in acute destabilized heart failure: an international pooled analysis of 1256 patients: the International Collaborative of NT-proBNP Study. Eur Heart J 2006, 27(3):330-337.
- 71. Bozkanat E, Tozkoparan E, Baysan O, Deniz O, Ciftci F, Yokusoglu M: The significance of elevated brain natriuretic peptide levels in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Int Med Res 2005, **33**(5):537-544.
- 72. Rutten FH, Cramer MJ, Zuithoff NP, Lammers JW, Verweij W, Grobbee DE, Hoes AW: Comparison of B-type natriuretic peptide assays for identifying heart failure in stable elderly patients with a clinical diagnosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. European Journal of Heart Failure 2007, 9(6-7):651-659.
- Rosenberg J, Schou M, Gustafsson F, Badskjaer J, Hildebrandt P: Prognostic threshold levels of NT-proBNP testing in primary care. Eur Heart J 2009, 30(1):66-73.

- 74. Inghammar M, Engström G, Löfdahl CG, Egesten A: Validation of a COPD diagnosis from the Swedish Inpatient Registry. Scand J Public Health 2012, 40(8):773-776.
- 75. Ingelsson E, Ärnlöv J, Sundström J, Lind L: The validity of a diagnosis of heart failure in a hospital discharge register. Eur J Heart Fail 2005, 7(5):787-791.
- 76. Wiréhn AB, Karlsson HM, Carstensen JM: Estimating disease prevalence using a population-based administrative healthcare database. Scand J Public Health 2007, 35(4):424-431.

Paper I



Clinical Study

Using NT-proBNP to Detect Chronic Heart Failure in Elderly Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Elzbieta Kaszuba,^{1,2} Bartlomiej Wagner,¹ Håkan Odeberg,^{1,2} and Anders Halling^{1,2,3}

¹ Blekinge Competence Centre, Wämö Centre, 371 81 Karlskrona, Sweden

² Lund University, Department of Clinical Sciences in Malmö, General Practice/Family Medicine, 205 02 Malmö, Sweden
 ³ Research Unit of General Practice, Institute of Public Health, University of Southern Denmark, 5000 Odense C, Denmark

Correspondence should be addressed to Bartlomiej Wagner; b.wagner@telia.com

Received 25 April 2013; Accepted 28 May 2013

Academic Editors: A. M. Salinas-Martinez and A. Vellinga

Copyright © 2013 Elzbieta Kaszuba et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Objective. To detect chronic heart failure in elderly patients with a registered diagnosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) treated in Swedish primary health care using natriuretic peptide NT-proBNP. *Design*. A cross-sectional study. *Setting*. Two primary health care centres in southeastern Sweden each with about 9000 listed patients. *Subjects*. Patients aged 65 years and older with a registered diagnosis of COPD. *Main Outcome Measures*. Percentage of patients with elevated NT-proBNP, percentage of patients with abnormal left ventricular function assessed by echocardiography, and association between elevated NT-proBNP and symptoms, signs, and electrocardiography. *Results*. Using NT-proBNP threshold of 1200 pg/mL, we could detect and confirm chronic heart failure in 5.6% of the study population with concurrent COPD. An elevated level of NT-proBNP was only associated with nocturia and abnormal electrocardiography. *Conclusions*. We found considerably fewer cases of heart failure in patients with COPD than could be expected from the results of previous studies. Our study shows the need for developing improved strategies to enhance the validity of a suspected heart failure diagnosis in patients with COPD.

1. Introduction

When a general practitioner encounters an elderly patient with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) presenting with shortness of breath, cough, and greater fatigue than usual, it is easy to suspect COPD exacerbation. However, these symptoms are unspecific and may also be consistent with a heart failure diagnosis.

Prevalence of chronic heart failure in elderly patients with COPD carried in a primary health care was found to be 20.5% [1]. A review of previous studies showed that prevalence of heart failure or left ventricular systolic dysfunction in patients with COPD varied between 10% and 46% [2]. The highest prevalence of chronic heart failure was reported among patients with symptomatic dyspnoea [3].

Most patients with COPD and/or chronic heart failure in Sweden are managed in primary health care. Assessment of probability of chronic heart failure by judgment of clinical symptoms in the same patients differs considerably among general practitioners [4]. Similarities in signs and symptoms make it more difficult to diagnose chronic heart failure in patients with COPD. Access to echocardiography in primary health care in Sweden is limited; therefore, this essential diagnostic tool is not immediately available in routine care. Determination of natriuretic peptides constitutes an important component of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) algorithm for the diagnosis of chronic heart failure [5].

Natriuretic peptides enhance validity of heart failure diagnosis in elderly patients with COPD [6]. The aim of the present study was to evaluate if the analysis of NTproBNP might be used as an initial step for the diagnosis of chronic heart failure in patients with COPD in primary health care and to select patients for a further examination by echocardiography.

Furthermore, the patients with elevated NT-proBNP were compared with the other participating patients for different symptoms and electrocardiographic abnormalities.

2. Material and Methods

The study was conducted in two different primary health care centres during the period 16 April 2008–13 June 2008 in Blekinge county. Blekinge county with approximately 150 000 inhabitants is located in southeastern Sweden. Olofström municipality has 13 198 inhabitants, with 22.7% 65 years and older. Karlskrona municipality has 62 338 inhabitants with 19% 65 years and older [7].

The study included patients aged 65 years and older with the following diagnosis codes according to ICD 10: J44 (COPD), J41 and J42 (chronic bronchitis) registered during the period 1 January 2008–16 April 2008 according to the electronic patient record.

Data on the patient flow during the study are shown in Figure 1.

At the time of the study, 9265 patients were registered at the primary health centre in Olofström, 1905 (20.6%) aged 65 years and older. At the primary health centre Tullgården in Karlskrona, 9002 patients were registered and 1508 (16.8%) aged 65 and older.

Exclusion criteria comprised impaired cognitive function and/or anticipated difficulties in carrying out spirometry due to immobility, psychiatric disorders, or terminal illness.

Informed consent was obtained from each participant.

In order to confirm the diagnosis of COPD and classify the degree of severity of COPD according to the GOLD criteria [8], all participants were examined with dynamic spirometry (Spirare 3, Diagnostica, Norway), if spirometry had not already been carried out during the past year.

Patients with a confirmed diagnosis of COPD were examined regarding chronic heart failure.

In an interview, we asked the patients for the following symptoms: breathlessness, orthopnoea, night cough, nocturia, and walking distance. A threshold for walking distance of 100 meters was used [9]. Physical examination included weight and height, heart and lung auscultation, blood pressure measurement after 5 minutes' rest in the sitting position, and the presence of peripheral oedema. Positive findings from heart and lung auscultation were determined as rales and the third heart sound.

All patients were examined by electrocardiography.

Since the regional ethics committee questioned the need to perform chest X-rays in all participants because of the risk associated with radiation, a chest X-ray was performed only if clinical examination gave rise to suspicion of pulmonary congestion.

The natriuretic peptide was determined as NT-proBNP (Immulite 2500, Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics AB, Sweden). Patients with the NT-proBNP level of ≥1200 pg/mL were referred for echocardiography to assess left ventricular (LV) function using the following echocardiographic criteria:

(i) EF \geq 55% normal systolic LV function,

(ii) EF 40-54% mildly impaired systolic LV function,

(iii) EF 30-39% moderately impaired LV function,

(iv) EF <30% severely impaired LV function.



Abnormal LV relaxation and/or distensibility during normal EF were described as diastolic dysfunction.

The study was approved by the research ethics committee at Lund University.

The study was registered at ClinicalTrials.gov NCT01801722.

3. Statistics

Data were analysed in the STATA version 10 (Stata Corporation, Texas, USA). Distribution of categorical variables is presented as numbers. Distribution of continuous variables was presented as mean and standard deviations (SD) except NTproBNP which was presented as the median and interquartile range (IQR). Mann-Whitney's test was used for comparison of mean values. Differences in proportions in the groups were tested with the chi square test. A *P* value of <0.05 was considered significant.

4. Results

The mean age of the 75 participating patients was 75.3 (SD 7.6), while the age of 108 patients who did not participate was 77.2 (SD 7.7). There was no significant difference in age (P = 0.09) or gender (P = 0.16) distribution between those groups.

Dynamic spirometry in the participating patients showed FEV 1 >65% in 22 of the 75 patients (29%). As the diagnosis of COPD could not be confirmed in these 22 patients, they were excluded from the study.

ISRN Family Medicine

Statistical analysis was done on the 53 participating patients with confirmed COPD.

The group comprised 25 women (47%) and 28 men (53%). The mean age was 75.4 years (SD 7.9), 76.3 (SD 7.6) for men, and 74.4 (SD 8.2) for women.

Spirometry showed COPD in stage 1 in 10 patients (19%), stage 2 in 28 patients (54%), stage 3 in 11 patients (21%), and stage 4 in 1 patient (2%). The severity of COPD could not be classified in 2 patients (4%) as they were older than 90 years and no reference of FEV1 is available for this age group. A median of NT-proBNP was 228 pg/mL (IQR 89–561).

Distribution of NT-proBNP in relation to COPD stages is presented in Figure 2.

An NT-proBNP level equal to or above 1200 pg/mL was found in 8 out of 53 patients (15%).

These 8 patients were significantly older than the other participants (P = 0.03). We did not find a correlation between the NT-proBNP level and COPD stage (P = 0.9).

Patients with an increased level of NT-proBNP (≥1200 pg/mL) were classified as having suspected chronic heart failure and referred for echocardiography. One person died while awaiting examination. Only 2 out of 7 patients (28%) with suspected chronic heart failure had a reduced EF (20 and 35%). One out of 7 patients (14%) had signs of diastolic dysfunction. We were only able to confirm the diagnosis of chronic heart failure in 3 out of 53 patients, which constitutes 5.6% of the study population.

Correlations between symptoms, clinical findings, and NT-proBNP are presented in Table I. Nocturia was the only registered symptom found more commonly among patients with suspected heart failure, that is, with NT-proBNP \geq 1200 pg/mL. We found a strong correlation between elevated NT-proBNP level and an abnormal electrocardiography (P = 0.007).

The abnormalities found were the following: complete or incomplete left bundle branch block, pathological Q wave, ST-T changes, atrial fibrillation, and signs of left ventricular hypertrophy.

5. Discussion

The purpose of this study was to evaluate whether the determination of NT-proBNP can help a general practitioner to make a valid diagnosis of chronic heart failure in patients with COPD. Using the threshold of NT-proBNP of ≥1200 pg/mL, we found that 5.6% of the participating patients had chronic heart failure. We found considerably fewer cases of chronic heart failure than could be expected from the results of previous studies.

We chose elderly patients with COPD as a study population due to the previously reported higher prevalence of chronic heart failure in this group [10].

Data are also available showing that the risk of developing chronic heart failure in elderly patients with COPD is at least two times higher than in age-matched controls [11].

We do not believe that the low prevalence of chronic heart failure found in our study is due to a generally low prevalence of chronic heart failure in the Swedish population.



FIGURE 2: Distribution of NT-proBNP in relation to COPD stage.

Sweden has the highest proportion of elderly in the world and prevalence of chronic heart failure in Sweden is comparable with other countries [12].

The limitation of our study is a high drop-out rate. Firstly, the response ratio was low and the participation ratio differed considerably between participating primary health centres.

We hypothesized that this could depend on the specialist care at the Blekinge County Hospital. This statement particularly concerned primary health centre in Karlskrona due to the vicinity of the hospital. However, when we explored hospital diagnosis registers in 2008, we found only 15 patients from primary health centre in Karlskrona and 11 patients from primary health centre in Olofström with the diagnosis of COPD. Moreover, we only found 2 patients with a combined diagnosis of COPD and chronic heart failure, both from Karlskrona.

Secondly, definite COPD could not be diagnosed in 22 (29%) of participants. The number of patients with an unconfirmed COPD diagnosis was 37.8% in a primary health centre study in The Netherlands [3].

The main question in our study was if testing of NTproBNP can help general practitioner select COPD patients for a confirmatory investigation of chronic heart failure using echocardiography. Symptoms and signs were of no help in the diagnosis of chronic heart failure, except probably for nocturia, which was more frequent in COPD patients with elevated NT-proBNP. There was a strong correlation between an abnormal ECG and an elevated NT-proBNP, which confirms the fact that a normal ECG makes diagnosis of chronic heart failure less likely [13].

An elevated level of natriuretic peptides is an important component of the ESC diagnostic algorithm. Two threshold values are used. The diagnosis of chronic heart failure is considered unlikely below 400 pg/mL, likely above 2000 pg/mL, and uncertain in between. The level of natriuretic peptides can be increased in patients with COPD [14]. Age is one of the main factors influencing the NT-proBNP level [15]. We chose an NT-proBNP level of 1200 pg/ml as a reasonable level
	NT-proBNP	<1200 m = 45	≥1200		P value
	Positive	Negative	Positive	Negative	1 vulue
Symptoms		·			
Breathlessness	37 (82%)	8 (18%)	7 (87%)	1 (13%)	0.714
Night cough	8 (18%)	34 (76%)	0 (0%)	8 (100%)	0.178
Orthopnoea	3 (7%)	39 (86%)	1 (13%)	7 (87%)	0.609
Nocturia	31 (69%)	14 (31%)	8 (100%)	0 (0%)	0.066
Walking distance	13 (29%)	26 (58%)	1 (13%)	6 (85%)	0.313
Clinical findings					
Heart auscultation	3 (7%)	42 (93%)	1 (13%)	7 (87%)	0.565
Peripheral oedema	21 (47%)	24 (53%)	3 (37%)	5 (63%)	0.631
ECG abnormalities	22 (49%)	23 (51%)	8 (100%)	0 (0%)	0.007

TABLE 1: Correlations between symptoms, clinical findings, and NT-proBNP.

at which to suspect chronic heart failure in elderly patients with COPD.

The value of 1200 pg/mL also constitutes the mean of the two threshold levels of the ESC algorithm. If the lower threshold level of 400 pg/mL had been used in our study, 17 out of 53 patients (32%) would have been eligible for echocardiography. Only 3 out of 7 (42%) patients with levels ≥1200 pg/mL had abnormal findings in echocardiography. Furthermore, their NT-proBNP levels were rather high: 1682 pg/mL, 1877 pg/mL, and 4413 pg/mL, indicating that the small number of patients found with abnormalities in echocardiography was not explained by a too high threshold of NT-proBNP.

The natriuretic peptides can be used in the general population as a tool to evaluate left ventricular systolic dysfunction [16] and to make a diagnosis of heart failure more accurate [17, 18]. A newer study from Denmark suggests that NT-proBNP can be used to risk stratify waiting lists for echocardiography in PHC [19]. There is a possibility that NT-proBNP used for screening patients eligible for echocardiography is not suitable when patients with suspected chronic heart failure also have COPD. Improving strategies to enhance validity of the chronic heart failure diagnosis in patients with COPD should be of interest for general practitioners. Our study is small and a more extended study is needed to settle this issue from the primary health care perspective.

Conflict of Interests

All the authors declare that they do not have any conflict of interests. They do not have any financial relation with the commercial identities mentioned in the paper.

References

 F. H. Rutten, M. M. Cramer, D. E. Grobbee et al., "Unrecognized heart failure in elderly patients with stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease," *European Heart Journal*, vol. 26, no. 18, pp. 1887–1894, 2005.

- [2] F. H. Rutten, M. M. Cramer, J. J. Lammers, D. E. Grobbee, and A. W. Hoes, "Heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: an ignored combination?" *European Journal of Heart Failure*, vol. 8, no. 7, pp. 706–711, 2006.
- [3] M. J. Zema, A. P. Masters, and D. Margouleff, "Dyspnea: the heart or the lungs? Differentiation at bedside by use of the simple valsalva maneuver," *Chest*, vol. 85, no. 1, pp. 59–64, 1984.
- [4] Y. Skånér, L. Strender, and J. Bring, "How do GPs use clinical information in their judgements of heart failure? A clinical judgement analysis study," *Scandinavian Journal of Primary Health Care*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 95–100, 1998.
- [5] K. Dickstein, A. Cohen-Solal, G. Filippatos et al., "ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008: the Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008 of the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association of the ESC (HFA) and endorsed by the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM)," *European Journal* of Heart Failure, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 933–989, 2008.
- [6] F. H. Rutten, M. M. Cramer, N. P. A. Zuithoff et al., "Comparison of B-type natriuretic peptide assays for identifying heart failure in stable elderly patients with a clinical diagnosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease," *European Journal of Heart Failure*, vol. 9, no. 6-7, pp. 651–659, 2007.
- [7] Swedish Central Statistic Office, "Population in the country, counties and municipalities," December 2007, http://www.scb.se.
- [8] Global Strategy for Diagnosis, Management, and Prevention of COPD, http://www.goldcopd.org/uploads/users/files/GOLD-Report_April112011.pdf.
- [9] M. Sullivan, J. Karlsson, and J. E. Ware, "The Swedish SF-36 Health Survey: I. Evaluation of data quality, scaling assumptions, reliability and construct validity across general populations in Sweden," *Social Science & Medicine*, vol. 41, no. 10, pp. 1349–1358, 1995.
- [10] M. Padeletti, S. Jelic, and T. H. LeJemtel, "Coexistent chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and heart failure in the elderly," *International Journal of Cardiology*, vol. 125, no. 2, pp. 209–215, 2008.
- [11] S. M. Curkendall, S. Lanes, C. de Luise et al., "Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease severity and cardiovascular outcomes," *European Journal of Epidemiology*, vol. 21, no. 11, pp. 803–813, 2006.

ISRN Family Medicine

- [12] M. Mejhert, H. Persson, M. Edner, and T. Kahan, "Epidemiology of heart failure in Sweden—a national survey," *European Journal* of Heart Failure, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 97–103, 2001.
- [13] N. K. Khan, K. M. Goode, J. G. F. Cleland et al., "Prevalence of ECG abnormalities in an international survey of patients with suspected or confirmed heart failure at death or discharge," *European Journal of Heart Failure*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 491–501, 2007.
- [14] E. Bozkanat, E. Tozkoparan, O. Baysan, O. Deniz, F. Ciftci, and M. Yokusoglu, "The significance of elevated brain natriuretic peptide levels in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease," *Journal of International Medical Research*, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 537–544, 2005.
- [15] J. L. Januzzi, R. van Kimmenade, J. Lainchbury et al., "NTproBNP testing for diagnosis and short-term prognosis in acute destabilized heart failure: an international pooled analysis of 1256 patients: the international collaborative of NT-proBNP study," *European Heart Journal*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 330–337, 2006.
- [16] J. L. Januzzi Jr., C. A. Camargo, S. Anwaruddin et al., "The Nterminal Pro-BNP investigation of dyspnea in the emergency department (PRIDE) study," *American Journal of Cardiology*, vol. 95, no. 8, pp. 948–954, 2005.
- [17] I. Betti, G. Castelli, A. Barchielli et al., "The role of Nterminal PRO-brain natriuretic peptide and echocardiography for screening asymptomatic left ventricular dysfunction in a population at high risk for heart failure. The PROBE-HF study," *Journal of Cardiac Failure*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 377–384, 2009.
- [18] U. Dahlström, "Can natriuretic peptides be used for the diagnosis of diastolic heart failure?" *European Journal of Heart Failure*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 281–287, 2004.
- [19] J. Rosenberg, M. Schou, F. Gustafsson, J. Badskjær, and P. Hildebrandt, "Prognostic threshold levels of NT-proBNP testing in primary care," *European Heart Journal*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 66–73, 2009.

Paper II

RESEARCH ARTICLE





Comparing impedance cardiography and echocardiography in the assessment of reduced left ventricular systolic function

Elzbieta Kaszuba^{1,2*}, Sergei Scheel¹, Håkan Odeberg^{1,2} and Anders Halling^{1,2,3}

Abstract

Background: An early and accurate diagnosis of chronic heart failure is a big challenge for a general practitioner. Assessment of left ventricular function is essential for the diagnosis of heart failure and the prognosis. A gold standard for identifying left ventricular function is echocardiography. Echocardiography requires input from specialized care and has a limited access in Swedish primary health care. Impedance cardiography (ICG) is a noninvasive and low-cost method of examination. The survey technique is simple and ICG measurement can be performed by a general practitioner. ICG has been suggested for assessment of left ventricular function in patients with heart failure. We aimed to study the association between hemodynamic parameters measured by ICG and the value of ejection fraction as a determinant of reduced left ventricular systolic function in echocardiography.

Methods: A non-interventional, observational study conducted in the outpatients heart failure unit. Thirty-six patients with the diagnosis of chronic heart failure were simultaneously examined by echocardiography and ICG. Distribution of categorical variables was presented as numbers. Distribution of continuous variables was presented as a mean and 95% Confidence Interval. Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare variables and show differences between the groups. A p-value of <0.05 was considered significant.

Results: We found that three ICG parameters; pre-ejection fraction, left ventricular ejection time and systolic time ratio were significantly associated with ejection fraction measured by echocardiography.

Conclusions: The association which we found between EF and ICG parameters was not reported in previous studies. We found no association between EF and ICG parameters which were suggested previously as the determinants of reduced left ventricular systolic function.

The knowledge concerning explanation of hemodynamic parameters measured by ICG that is available nowadays is not sufficient to adopt the method in practice and use it to describe left ventricular systolic dysfunction.

Keywords: Heart failure, Reduced left ventricular systolic function, Impedance cardiography, Echocardiography

Background

Chronic heart failure (HF) is a complex syndrome characterized by a long period of sub-clinical symptoms and progressive process associated with poor prognosis. The five-year mortality is six times higher than in general population [1]. The prevalence of chronic HF in general population in Sweden is between 2 and 3% and rises with age to approximately.

10-20% at 70-80 years of age [2,3]. The incidence has increased mainly due to an increasing proportion of the elderly in Sweden [4]. It entails one of the highest costsof-illness with approximately 2% of the Swedish health care budget [2,5]. Similar data about prevalence, incidence and costs were reported in other European countries [6,7] and USA [8].

The majority of patients at risk of chronic HF, e.g. with coronary heart disease and hypertension, are treated in primary health care.

An early and accurate diagnosis of HF is a big challenge for a general practitioner. Assessment of left



© 2013 Kaszuba et al.; licensee BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative BioMed Central Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

^{*} Correspondence: elzbieta.kaszuba@med.lu.se

¹Blekinge Competence Centre, Wämö Centre, Karlskrona SE-371 81, Sweden ²Department of Clinical Sciences in Malmö, General Practice/Family Medicine, Lund University, Malmö SE-205 02, Sweden

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article

ventricular function is essential for the diagnosis of HF and the prognosis. The 5-year survival rate correlates with reduced left ventricular systolic function and decreases in patients with HF to 53% compared with 93% in age- and sex- matched general population [1]. A gold standard for identifying reduced left ventricular function is echocardiography [9]. The European Society of Cardiology considers echocardiography to be mandatory for the establishment of HF diagnosis and highly recommended if HF is suspected [6]. Echocardiography requires input from specialized care. Its accessibility is limited in Swedish primary health care and it is performed only in about 30% of patients with suspected HF [10,11]. Determination of ejection fraction (EF) by echocardiography is routinely used for description of left ventricular systolic function. Potential utility of impedance measurement for assessment of left ventricular function has been suggested since the 1990s [12] with clinical application in patients with HF [13,14]. Impedance cardiography (ICG) is a noninvasive and low-cost method of examination. The survey technique is simple and ICG measurement can be performed by a general practitioner. ICG is considered to be reproducible in ambulatory patients with stable heart failure [15] and has been suggested as a tool to be used by nurses to detect worsening of left ventricular systolic function in patients with heart failure [16].

We aimed to study the association between ICG parameters and the value of EF in echocardiography. If the association was found, ICG could be a method to evaluate reduced left ventricular function.

Methods

This was a non-interventional, observational study. The study was conducted in the outpatients heart failure unit at the Blekinge County Hospital in Karlshamn in Sweden during the period 6 February 2009 – 6 March 2009. Informed consent was obtained from each participant. There were 63 patients with the diagnosis of chronic HF registered at the heart failure unit. All registered patients were offered participation by a letter send by a cardiologist. No reminder was send. Heart failure unit is the secondary care unit. Patients are referred there from primary care if difficulties with management of chronic HF occur. Diagnosis of chronic HF was established before referral. We thought that it was not necessary to question the diagnosis and we did not penetrate the way it was made.

Exclusion criteria comprised significant aortic valve insufficiency and severe aortic stenosis, both of which influence ICG measurement.

The patients were examined by means of echocardiography and ICG during one consultation. Both echocardiography and ICG were performed once in each patient. Echocardiography was performed by an experienced cardiologist using Vivid 7, GE equipment. EF was calculated according to modified Simpson's formula. The following echocardiographic criteria were used to describe left ventricle systolic function: $EF \ge 50\%$ normal systolic function,

EF 40–49% mildly impaired systolic function, EF 30-39% moderately impaired systolic function, EF <30% severely impaired systolic function. ICG was performed by a general practitioner with experience of survey technique using NiccomoTM monitor (Medis. Medizinische Messtechnik GmbH,Germany).

Two pairs of dual sensors were placed on the patient's neck and two on the sides of the chest (Figure 1). The skin was prepared in the way similar to the electrocardiography examination. The outer sensors apply a very low constant and alternating current, imperceptible to the patient. The inner sensors measure the baseline impedance of the thorax. Impedance changes with each heartbeat due to changes in the volume and velocity in the aorta. The changes in impedance are used to calculate stroke volume, cardiac output and other hemodynamic parameters. Table 1 contains the list of ICG parameters measured by NiccomoTM.



Figure 1 Electrode placement for impedance cardiography measurement.

Table 1 The list of ICG parameters

ICG parameter		Unit
Heart rate	HR	1/min
Heart period	HPD	ms
Stroke volume	SV	ml
Stroke index	SI	ml/min
Cardiac output	CO	l/min
Cardiac index	CI	l/min/m ²
Left cardiac work	LCW	kg∙m
Left cardiac work index	LCWI	kg \cdot m/m ²
Velocity index	VI	1/1000/s
Accelaration index	ACI	1/100/s ²
Heather index	HI	Ohm/s ²
Thoracic fluid containce	TFC	1/kOhm
Pre-ejection period	PEP	ms
Left ventricular ejection time	LVET	ms
Systolic time ratio	STR	
Ejection time ratio	ETR	%
Systolic vascular resistance	SVR	ml/min
Systolic vascular resistance index	SVRI	ml/min/m ²

ICG measurement was obtained after 10 minutes resting, in the supine position with the head elevated between 30–45 degrees for better comfort of the patient. Data were transferred to an external disc and analysed thereafter regarding their adequacy.

None of ICG parameters can be directly compared with EF due to differences in both methods of examinations. ICG parameters were divided into the following groups:

1. Expression for cardiac work: cardiac output, stroke volume, left cardiac work.

- 2. Contractility: velocity index, acceleration index, Heather index.
- 3. Fluid status: thoracic fluid content.
- Expression for systolic function: pre-ejection period, left ventricular ejection time, systolic time ratio and ejection time ratio.
- 5. Expression for the vascular resistance the heart works against: systolic vascular resistance.

We decided to analyse cardiac output, stroke volume, left cardiac work and systolic vascular resistance related to the body surface as cardiac index, stroke index, left cardiac work index and systolic vascular resistance index.

The study was approved by the research ethics committee at Lund University.

Statistics

Data were analysed in the STATA version 10 (Stata Corporation, Texas,USA). Distribution of categorical variables was presented as numbers. Distribution of continuous variables was presented as a mean and 95% Confidence Interval. Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare variables and show differences between the groups. A p-value of <0.05 was considered significant.

Results

We obtained consent for participation from 37 patients out of 63 patients registered at heart failure unit. Those 37 patients were enrolled into the study. ICG could not be performed in one patient due to distortions in the ICG signal and this patient was excluded from further calculations. The mean age of 36 patients was 68.3 years (CI 64.2-72.4).

The group comprised 28 men (78%) and 8 women (22%). The mean age for men was 68.2 (95% CI 64.0 - 72.4) and for women 68.5 (95% CI 54.7-82.3). None of

Table 2 Distribution of ICG parameters (value and 95% CI) in groups with different ejection fraction

EF	≥50% (n = 13)	40-49% (n = 10)	30-39% (n = 6)	<30% (n = 7)	p-value
CI	2.808 (2.56-3.5)	3.14 (2.42-3.53)	2.6 (2.46-3.29)	2.7 (2.05–2.92)	0.1180
SI	42.15 (37.04–47.27)	35.95 (26.96-44.83)	36.86 (28.77-44.94	38.83 (27.46–50.2)	0.2708
PEP	110.31 (94.38-126,23)	108.4 (95.71-121.1)	139.5 (110.23–168.77)	148 (125.2–170.79)	0.0069*
LVET	323.08 (285.77-360.38)	292.7 (271.06-314.34)	262 (222.78-301.22)	268.43 (212.7-324.15)	0.0462*
STR	0.35 (0.29-0.41)	0.38 (0.32-0.43)	0.54 (0.41-0.66)	0.75 (0.4–0.77)	0.0031*
ETR	37.15 (34.65–39.66)	37.3 (32.02–42.58)	32.66 (30.04-35.29)	34.57 (32.51–36.63)	0.1934
VI	33.77 (29.28-38.26)	38.4 (29.9-46.9)	35.17 (20.42-49.9)	40 (26.12-53.88)	0.61
ACI	51.84 (42.92-60.77)	64.6 (44.59-84.61)	66 (41.33–90.67)	68.14 (50.3-85.98)	0.26
HI	7.9 (5.81–9.98)	10.03 (6.44-13.61)	6.18 (2.98–9.39)	5.8 (2.59-9.0)	0.1006
LCWI	3.17 (2.7-3.63)	3.95 (2.96-4.93)	3.02 (2.5-3.52)	2.87 (2.38-3.35)	0.2624
SVRI	2452 (2099-2806)	2435 (1899–2971)	2662 (2179-3145)	2511 (1743-3279)	0.8549
TFC	35.12 (2.43-3.17)	33.89 (2.65–3.63)	39.63 (2.17-3.02)	43.99 (2.11-3.28)	0.1461

* p value of <0,05.

the patients had significant aortic valve insufficiency or severe aortic stenosis. None of the patients reported any discomfort or adverse reaction associated with ICG measurement.

Normal left ventricular systolic function was presented in 13 out of 36 patients (36%), mildly impaired in 9 patients (25%), moderately and severely impaired each in 7 patients, respectively (19%). Three ICG parameters: preejection fraction, left ventricular ejection time and systolic time ratio were associated with EF with significant p-value.

The results are presented in Table 2.

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to find whether there is any association between EF measured by echocardiography and hemodynamic parameters measured by ICG.

We found associations between EF and three of four ICG parameters which describe systolic function of the left ventricle: pre-ejection period, left ventricular ejection time and systolic time ratio. We did not find any association between EF and the fourth parameter which describes systolic function - ejection time ratio, though it is directly proportional to left ventricular ejection time. We cannot explain this. The technique of ICG examination was correct. Only one examination had insufficient quality, most likely due to a bad contact between a sensor and the skin. There was no other potential cause of the distortions in ICG signals. We do not think that the patients' condition could influence the quality of ICG examination and therefore our results. All grades of HF were represented in our study population. None of the patients had unstable HF - a condition which can influence the quality of ICG examination.

A limitation of our study is a small number of patients. Nevertheless, most of the previous studies concerning the correlation between ICG and echocardiography had a small number of participants. This might be a reason why the results are not ambiguous. Evaluation of left ventricular function was the subject in previous studies with ICG but none of the parameters we found associated with EF was previously regarded as a determinant of left ventricular systolic dysfunction. Systolic time ratio, however, was able to distinguish preserved from impaired EF [17]. Also, a close correlation between systolic time ratio and changes in EF was observed before and after treatment in patients with heart failure [18]. An association between systolic time ratio and EF was found in our study.

The following ICG parameters were suggested in another study as determinants of left ventricular systolic dysfunction: cardiac index, left cardiac work index and systolic vascular resistance index [19]. We could not confirm this. The lack of association between cardiac index and EF found in our study confirms a lack of agreement between absolute values of cardiac output measured by ICG and by echocardiography [20]. We did not find any data about pre-ejection period or left ventricular ejection time as determinants of reduced left ventricular function.

According to the theoretical equation EF is a quotient of stroke volume and end diastolic volume, cardiac output is a product of stroke volume and heart rate. ICG was considered to be a reliable method to determine stroke volume [21]. Owing to these facts, we hypothesized that stroke index and cardiac index would be determinants of left ventricular systolic function and would be associated with EF. ICG was a validated method for measuring cardiac output [22]. Cardiac output by ICG was significantly correlated with a thermodilution method as a gold standard even in patients with heart failure [23,24], which strengthened our hypothesis.

No association between stroke volume index or cardiac output index and EF was found in our study.

EF is commonly used to describe cardiac contractility [25]. We expected to find an association between EF and ICG parameters which describe contractility: velocity index, acceleration index and Heather index. Heather index by ICG has been suggested as the determinant of reduced left ventricle systolic function [26]. No association between EF and those parameters was found in our study.

Conclusions

The possibility to determine left ventricular function by ICG makes the method attractive for use in patients with HF in primary health care. The association which we found between EF and ICG parameters was not reported in previous studies.

We found no association between EF and ICG parameters which were suggested previously as the determinants of reduced left ventricular systolic function. We do not think that knowledge concerning explanation of hemodynamic parameters measured by ICG that is available nowadays is sufficient to adopt the method in practice and use it to describe reduced left ventricular function.

Abbreviations

HF: Heart failure; EF: Ejection fraction; ICG: Impedance cardiography.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

EK participated in the design of the study, carried out the data collection, helped with data interpretetion and drafted the manuscript.SS helped with the design of the study, data collection and draft of the manuscript. Ho helped draft the manuscript. AH designed the study, performed the statistical analysis, handled the data set, interpreted the data, participated in drafting the manuscript. All the authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Author details

¹Blekinge Competence Centre, Wämö Centre, Karlskrona SE-371 81, Sweden.
²Department of Clinical Sciences in Malmö, General Practice/Family
Medicine, Lund University, Malmö SE-205 02, Sweden.
³Research Unit of General Practice, Institute of Public Health, University of Southern Denmark, Odense C DK-5000, Denmark.

Received: 3 December 2012 Accepted: 6 March 2013 Published: 26 March 2013

References

- Hobbs FD, Roalfe AK, Davis RC, Davies MK, Hare R, Midlands Research Practices Consortium (MidReC): Prognosis of all-cause heart failure and borderline left ventricular systolic dysfunction: 5 year mortality follow-up of the Echocardiographic Heart of England Screening Study (ECHOES). Eur Heart J 2007, 28(9):1128–1134.
- The Swedish national quality register for heart failure. Report 2011. Uppsala Clinical Reaserch Center. http://www.ucr.uu.se/rikssvikt/.
- Eriksson H, Svardsudd K, Larsson B, Ohlson LO, Tibblin G, Welin L, Wilhelmsen L: Risk factors for heart failure in the general population: the study of men born in 1913. Eur Heart J 1989, 10(7):647–656.
- Mejhert M, Persson H, Edner M, Kahan T: Epidemiology of heart failure in Sweden-a national survey. European Journal of Heart Failure 2001, 3(1):97–103.
- Ryden-Bergsten T, Andersson F: The health care costs of heart failure in Sweden. J Intern Med 1999, 246(3):275–284.
- 6. Dickstein K, Cohen-Solal A, Filippatos G, McMurray JJ, Ponikowski P, Poole-Wilson PA, Stromberg A, van Veldhuisen DJ, Atar D, Hoes AW, Keren A, Mebazaa A, Nieminen M, Priori SG, Swedberg K, ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPc): ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008 of the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association of the ESC (HFA) and endorsed by the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM). *Eur J Heart Fail 2008*, 10(19):933–989.
- Management of chronic heart failure in adults in primary and secondary care. August 2010. National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence. http://guidance.nice.org.uk/CG108.
- Lloyd-Jones D, Adams RJ, Brown TM, Carnethon M, Dai S, De Simone G, Ferguson TB, Ford E, Furie K, Gillespie C, Go A, Greenlund K, Haase N, Hailpern S, Ho PM, Howard V, Kissela B, Kittner S, Lackland D, Lisabeth L, Marelli A, McDermott MM, Meigs J, Mozaffarian D, Mussolino M, Nichol G, Roger VL, Rosamond W, Sacco R, Sorlie P, Stafford R, Thom T, Wasserthiel-Smoller S, Wong ND, Wylie-Rosett J: American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics, Subcommittee: Executive summary: heart disease and stroke statistics–2010 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 2010, 121(7):948–954.
- Sorrell VL, Reeves WC: Noninvasive right and left heart catheterization: taking the echo lab beyond an image-only laboratory. *Echocardiography* 2001, 18(1):31–41.
- Cline CM, Boman K, Holst M, Erhardt LR: Swedish Society of Cardiology Working Group for Heart, Failure: The management of heart failure in Sweden. Eur J Heart Fail 2002, 4(3):373–376.
- Dahlstrom U, Hakansson J, Swedberg K, Waldenstrom A: Adequacy of diagnosis and treatment of chronic heart failure in primary health care in Sweden. Eur J Heart Fail 2009, 11(1):92–98.
- van der Meer BJ, Vonk Noordegraaf A, Bax JJ, Kamp O, de Vries PM: Noninvasive evaluation of left ventricular function by means of impedance cardiography. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 1999, 43(2):130–134.
- Yancy C, Abraham WT: Noninvasive hemodynamic monitoring in heart failure: utilization of impedance cardiography. *Congest Heart Fail* 2003, 9(5):241–250.
- Chang AM, Maisel AS, Hollander JE: Diagnosis of heart failure. Heart Fail Clin 2009, 5(1):25–35.
- Greenberg BH, Hermann DD, Pranulis MF, Lazio L, Cloutier D: Reproducibility of impedance cardiography hemodynamic measures in clinically stable heart failure patients. *Congest Heart Fail* 2000, 6(2):74–80.

- DeMarzo AP, Calvin JE, Kelly RF, Stamos TD: Using impedance cardiography to assess left ventricular systolic function via postural
 - change in patients with heart failure. Prog Cardiovasc Nurs 2005, 20(4):163–167. Thompson B, Drazner MH, Dries DL, Yancy CW: Systolic time ratio by
- impedance cardiography to distinguish preserved vs impaired left ventricular systolic function in heart failure. Congest Heart Fail 2008, 14(5):261–265.
- Parrott CW, Burnham KM, Quale C, Lewis DL: Comparison of changes in ejection fraction to changes in impedance cardiography cardiac index and systolic time ratio. Congest Heart Fail 2004, 10(2 Suppl 2):11–13.
- Bhalla V, Isakson S, Bhalla MA, Lin JP, Clopton P, Gardetto N, Maisel AS: Diagnostic ability of B-type natriuretic peptide and impedance cardiography: testing to identify left ventricular dysfunction in hypertensive patients. Am J Hypertens 2005, 18(2 Pt 2):735–815.
- Fellahi JL, Caille V, Charron C, Deschamps-Berger PH, Vieillard-Baron A: Noninvasive assessment of cardiac index in healthy volunteers: a comparison between thoracic impedance cardiography and Doppler echocardiography. *Anesth Anala* 2009, 108(5):1553–1559.
- Gotshall RW, Davrath LR, Sadeh WZ, Coonts CC, Luckasen GJ, Downes TR, Tucker A: Validation of impedance cardiography during lower body negative pressure. Aviat Space Environ Med 1999, 70(1):6–10.
- Fuller HD: The validity of cardiac output measurement by thoracic impedance: a meta-analysis. Clin Invest Med 1992, 15(2):103–112.
- Albert NM, Hail MD, Li J, Young JB: Equivalence of the bioimpedance and thermodilution methods in measuring cardiac output in hospitalized patients with advanced, decompensated chronic heart failure. Am J Crit Care 2004, 13(6):469–479.
- Drazner MH, Thompson B, Rosenberg PB, Kaiser PA, Boehrer JD, Baldwin BJ, Dries DL, Yancy CW: Comparison of impedance cardiography with invasive hemodynamic measurements in patients with heart failure secondary to ischemic or nonischemic cardiomyopathy. Am J Cardiol 2002, 89(8):993–995.
- Hosenpud JD, Greenberg BH: Congestive heart failure. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2007.
- Summers RL, Kolb JC, Woodward LH, Galli RL: Differentiating systolic from diastolic heart failure using impedance cardiography. Acad Emerg Med 1999, 6(7):693–699.

doi:10.1186/1756-0500-6-114

Cite this article as: Kaszuba et al.: Comparing impedance cardiography and echocardiography in the assessment of reduced left ventricular systolic function. *BMC Research Notes* 2013 6:114.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and take full advantage of:

- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- No space constraints or color figure charges
- Immediate publication on acceptance
- Inclusion in PubMed, CAS, Scopus and Google Scholar

BioMed Central

• Research which is freely available for redistribution

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit Page 5 of 5

Paper III

RESEARCH ARTICLE



Heart failure and levels of other comorbidities in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in a Swedish population: a register-based study

Elzbieta Kaszuba^{1,2*}, Håkan Odeberg², Lennart Råstam² and Anders Halling^{2,3}

Abstract

Background: Despite the fact that heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) often exist together and have serious clinical and economic implications, they have mostly been studied separately. Our aim was to study prevalence of coexisting heart failure and COPD in a Swedish population. A further goal was to describe levels of other comorbidity and investigate where the patients received care: primary, secondary care or both.

Methods: We conducted a register-based, cross-sectional study. The population included all people older than 19 years, living in Östergötland County in Sweden. The data were obtained from the Care Data Warehouse register from the year 2006. The diagnosis-based Adjusted Clinical Groups Case-Mix System 7.1 was used to describe the comorbidity level.

Results: The prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure in patients with COPD was 18.8 % while it was 1.6 % in patients without COPD. Age standardized prevalence was 9.9 and 1.5 %, respectively. Standardized relative risk for the diagnosis of heart failure in patients with COPD was 6.6. The levels of other comorbidity were significantly higher in patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD compared to patients with either heart failure or COPD alone. Primary care was the only care provider for 36.2 % of patients with the diagnosis of heart failure and 20.7 % of patients with coexisting diagnoses of heart failure and COPD. Primary care participated furthermore in shared care of 21.5 % of patients with the diagnosis of heart failure and COPD. The share of care between primary and secondary care varied depending on levels of comorbidity both in patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD and patients with heart failure and coPD.

Conclusion: Patients with coexisting diagnoses of heart failure and COPD are common in the Swedish population. Patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD have higher levels of other comorbidity than patients with heart failure or COPD alone. Primary care in Sweden participates to a great extent in care of patients with diagnoses of heart failure alone and coexisting heart failure and COPD.

Keywords: Heart failure, Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, Diagnosis, Registries, Comorbidity, Primary care, Delivery of health care

*Correspondence: elzbieta.kaszuba@med.lu.se ² Department of Clinical Sciences in Malmö, General Practice/Family

Medicine, Lund University, 205 02 Malmö, Sweden

Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© 2016 Kaszuba et al. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/ publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

Background

Worldwide, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is one of the most common chronic diseases with overall prevalence of 7.6 % [1] and a heavy economic burden [2]. Patients with COPD are a group where chronic cardiovascular diseases including heart failure occur more frequently than in the general population [3]. The risk of developing heart failure in patients with COPD is 4.5 times higher than in age-matched controls [4]. Coexisting heart failure and COPD can be overlooked due to similarities in symptoms and signs, which is an important clinical implication. The main clinical manifestation of COPD and heart failure is dyspnea, which in turn is one of the most common causes of consultations in both primary and secondary care, especially among elderly patients [5].

The prevalence of undiagnosed heart failure in patients with COPD older than 65 years in primary care is approximately 20 % [6]. A review of previous studies showed that the prevalence of heart failure in patients with COPD varied between 10 and 46 % [7].

The prevalence of COPD in patients with heart failure is also about 20 % [8, 9]. The prevalence and burden of heart failure and COPD correlate with an aging population. The proportion of elderly in Sweden is the highest in the world with 17.4 % of persons aged \geq 65 years and is expected to increase until the year 2020 [10]. Management of heart failure and COPD is going to be a challenge in both primary and secondary care. Despite the fact that heart failure and COPD often occur together and have serious clinical and economic implications, both diseases have so far been mostly studied separately, especially on the population level. There is no Swedish data about prevalence of coexisting heart failure and COPD.

The aim of this study was to examine the prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure in patients with the diagnosis of COPD in the Swedish population. A further aim was to describe the levels of other comorbidities and investigate where patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD receive care: primary, secondary care or both.

Methods

This was a register-based, cross-sectional study. All the study population included people older than 19 years, living in Östergötland County in Sweden. The data used for the study was not openly available and was obtained after permission from the Östergötland County council. We used data from the Care Data Warehouse register [11]. The register collects data concerning consultation and diagnosis transferred every month from all public and private health care units in both primary and secondary care. Diagnoses were recorded according to the Swedish Version of International Statistical Classification of Diseases

and Related Health Problems version 10 (ICD 10). We used data from the year 2006. We identified an individual as having heart failure or COPD if the diagnosis code I50 or J44 was recorded on at least one consultation in primary or secondary care including hospitalization.

The code I50 covers: I50.0-chronic heart failure including congestive heart failure, right heart failure secondary to left heart failure, I50.1-left ventricular failure with or without lung oedema and asthma cardiale, I50.9 heart failure, unspecified.

The code J44 comprised the following: J44 chronic obstructive lung disease, J44.0 chronic obstructive lung disease with acute infection in lower airways, J44.1 chronic obstructive lung disease with acute exacerbation, unspecified, J44.8 other specified chronic obstructive lung disease including chronic bronchitis with emphysema.

The diagnosis-based Adjusted Clinical Groups (ACG) Case-Mix System 7.1 was used to describe comorbidity [12, 13]. Comorbidity on an individual level was measured when the diagnoses I50 and J44 were excluded and it is referred to as the level of other comorbidity.

Each individual was assigned one of six comorbidity levels called resource utilization bands (RUB) graded from 0 to 5.

When identifying the place where patients received care we used information where the diagnosis of heart failure and COPD was made: primary, secondary care or both.

Statistics

Data were analyzed in the STATA version 10 (Stata Corporation, Texas, USA). Descriptive data were presented in tables. Differences in proportions between the groups were tested using the Chi square test. A p < 0.05 was considered significant. Results for prevalence of heart failure and COPD are given for the whole study population. Thereafter direct standardizing for age was made. Individuals aged 60 and above were chosen arbitrarily as a standard population.

Ethics

The study has been approved by the Research Ethics Committee at Linköping University No 147/05 and 29/06.

Results

The study population consisted of 313,977 individuals. The diagnosis of heart failure was registered in 1.8 % and the diagnosis of COPD was registered in 1.2 % of the study population. The mean age in patients with the diagnosis of heart failure was 78.4 years (CI 78.0–78.7). The mean age of patients with the diagnosis of COPD was 70.5 years (CI 70.2–70.9). The prevalence of both diagnoses increased with age (Table 1). The prevalence of the

Variable	20–39 years	40–59 years	60–79 years	>80 years	Total
Women	47,419	53,539	41,359	16,386	158,703
Men	52,020	55,164	38,443	9647	155,274
COPD in total population	31 (0.03 %)	536 (0.4 %)	2280 (2.8 %)	889 (3.4 %)	3736 (1.2 %)
Heart failure in total population	34 (0.03 %)	328 (0.3 %)	2132 (2.6 %)	3045 (11.6 %)	5539 (1.89 %)
Heart failure in patients with COPD	0 (0 %)	26 (4.6 %)	367 (16.1 %)	307 (34.5 %)	700 (18.8 %)
Heart failure in patients without COPD	34 (0.03 %)	302 (0.3 %)	1765 (2.3 %)	2738 (10.9 %)	4839 (1.6 %)

Table 1 Prevalence of diagnoses COPD, heart failure and coexisting COPD and heart failure in the study population

diagnosis of heart failure in patients with the diagnosis of COPD was 18.8 and 1.6 % in patients without COPD. After standardizing for age the prevalence was 9.9 and 1.5 %, respectively. Standardized relative risk for the diagnosis of heart failure in patients with COPD was 6.6.

The prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure increased with age in women and men in both groups and reached 35.7 % in men with COPD \geq 80 years (Fig. 1). The prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure was significantly higher in both women and men with COPD



comparing to women and men without COPD in all age groups apart from the age group 20–39 years.

The most common comorbid condition in all three groups of patients: heart failure alone, COPD alone and coexisting heart failure and COPD was essential (primary) hypertension coded with either 110 or 110.9. The latter code is used only in secondary care. The comorbid diagnoses are summarized in Table 2.

The levels of other comorbidity were significantly higher in patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD comparing to patients with heart failure or COPD alone (Table 3).

The proportion of individuals with higher levels of other comorbidity (RUB 3-5) was 95 % in the group with coexisting heart failure and COPD, while in the group with heart failure alone it was 90.7 % and in the group with COPD alone it was 73.3 %.

Primary care was the only care provider to 36.2 % of patients with the diagnosis of heart failure and 20.7 % of patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD. Furthermore, primary care participated in shared care of 21.5 % of patients with the diagnosis of heart failure alone and 21.7 % of patients with coexisting diagnoses of heart failure and COPD.

The share of care given by primary and secondary care varied depending on levels of other comorbidity both in patients with heart failure without COPD and patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD (Fig. 2). The higher the level of other comorbidity the larger the participation of secondary health care was. Among patients with the highest level of other comorbidity (RUB 5) in the group with coexisting heart failure and COPD 11 % received care only in primary care, 29 % received shared care and 60 % received care only in secondary care.

Discussion

We found that the prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure in patients with the diagnosis of COPD was significantly higher than in patients without COPD. The levels of other comorbidity were significantly higher in patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD comparing with Code

Patients with COPD

n = 3736			failure n = 4839			and heart failure n = 700		
Essential (primary) hypertension	10, 10.9	1196 (32)	Essential (primary) hypertension	10, 10.9	2303 (47.6)	Essential (primary) hypertension	10, 110.9	284 (40.6)
Observation for suspected disease or condition	Z039	628 (16.8)	Observation for suspected disease or condition	Z03.9	1472 (30.4)	Observation for suspected disease or condition	Z03.9	251 (35.9)
Heart failure, unspeci- fied	150.9	526 (14.1)	Atrial fibrillation and atrial flutter, unspeci- fied	148.9	1380 (28.5)	Atrial fibrillation and atrial flutter, unspecified	148.9	199 (28.4)
Unspecified acute lower respiratory infection	J22	383 (10.3)	Type 2 diabetes mellitus, without complications	E11.9	958 (19.8)	Old myocardial infarction	125.2	166 (23.7)
Type 2 diabetes mellitus, without complications	E11.9	350 (9.4)	Atrial fibrillation and atrial flutter, unspeci- fied	148.9	931 (19.2)	Type 2 diabetes mellitus, without complications	E11.9	149 (21.3)
Atrial fibrillation and atrial flutter, unspeci- fied	148.9	312 (8.4)	Chronic ischaemic heart disease, unspecified	125.9	910 (18.8)	Chronic ischaemic heart disease, unspecified	125.9	136 (19.4)

Table 3 Distribution of levels of other comorbidity measured by RUB (resource utilization band) in the study population

Total		Patients without COPD		Patients with COPD	p value*	
		No heart failure	Heart failure	No heart failure	Heart failure	
RUB 0	102,071 (32.51 %)	101,835 (33.34 %)	81 (1.65 %)	150 (4.49 %)	5 (0.71 %)	0.000
RUB 1	44,126 (14.05 %)	43,855 (14.36 %)	86 (1.78 %)	181 (5.96 %)	4 (0.57 %)	0.001
RUB 2	65,322 (20.8 %)	64,533 (21.13 %)	282 (5.83 %)	481 (15.84 %)	26 (3.71 %)	0.000
RUB 3	89,042 (28.36 %)	84,602 (27.7 %)	2514 (51.95 %)	1603 (52.80 %)	323 (46.14 %)	0.000
RUB 4	10,383 (3.31 %)	10,383 (3.31 %)	1234 (25.50 %)	434 (14.30 %)	203 (29 %)	0.000
RUB 5	3033 (0.97 %)	2065 (0.68 %)	642 (13.27 %)	187 (6.16 %)	139 (19.89 %)	0.000
Total	313,977 (100 %)	305,402 (100 %)	4839 (100 %)	3036 (100 %)	700 (100 %)	0.000

* p value describes differences between groups with and without COPD

patients with heart failure or COPD alone. Primary care alone delivered care to 20.7 % of patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD and to a further 21.7 % who simultaneously received care from primary and secondary care.

Completeness and accuracy of data

The Care Data Warehouse Register comprised data from the whole population in the Östergötland County, which is the strength of our study. All consultations were recorded in electronic charts and the diagnosis was required at each consultation. We analyzed data from both primary and secondary care. A previous study showed usefulness of data from the Care Data Warehouse register in Östergötland in estimating the prevalence of chronic diseases such as diabetes, hypertension, ischemic heart disease, asthma and COPD and showed that the longer period of analysis corresponded to better capturing of cases [14]. The limitation of our study is a short period we analyzed. Our choice was anchored in Swedish clinical practice. In Swedish primary care patients with chronic diseases are actively checked at least once a year. Patients with COPD are summoned for a nurse-led follow-up and the presence of a specially educated asthma/COPD nurse is a requirement for each primary health care centre.

Nurse-led follow up of patients with heart failure is common in Swedish secondary care [15]. Östergötland was the leading county in Sweden in structured heart failure management in primary care [16].

A previous study showed that the diagnosis of COPD from a register in Sweden has an acceptable validity for being used in epidemiological research [17]. COPD in Sweden is usually diagnosed in primary care according to the Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) criteria [18]. Spirometry as a gold standard



in diagnosing COPD is widely available in primary care [19, 20]. Echocardiography as a gold standard in diagnosing heart failure is not as much accessible to general practitioners as spirometry and requires referral to specialized care. A previous Swedish study showed that echocardiography was performed only in about 30 % of patients with suspected heart failure [21]. Östergötland County was a leader in Sweden in use of natriuretic peptides in patients with suspected heart failure in primary care [22]. The limitation of our study was that, due to ethical reasons, we could not validate recorded diagnoses against the original medical records. At the same time we have no premises to suspect that the diagnoses registered in the Care Data Warehouse were non-accurate.

Interpretation of the results

We found that the diagnosis of heart failure occurred in 1.8 % of the study population.

This is exactly the same as the crude prevalence reported in a recently published Swedish register study [23]. According to this study the estimated prevalence of heart failure in Sweden was 2.2 % in year 2010. Estimation made about 15 years ago was 2.5 % [24].

The prevalence of the diagnosis of COPD was 1.2 %. Our result is considerably lower than prevalence of

COPD in the general population in Sweden estimated at about 6 % [25]. The discrepancy was expected because epidemiological studies regarding COPD used to be performed in individuals aged at least 40 years due to the onset of the illness, while we included individuals aged 20 and older in order to study the whole adult population. After excluding younger patients aged \leq 40 years the prevalence of COPD was 1.7 %, which did not change our results considerably.

We searched only for the diagnostic code J44, while in studies from other countries chronic bronchitis and emphysema J40–J43 were also included [26]. By that choice we wanted to decrease a risk of the non-accurate COPD diagnosis. In view of present guidelines for the diagnosis of COPD in Sweden the diagnostic code J44 is expected to be used for patients with COPD after doing the spirometry. This code is expected even in patients with emphysema caused by COPD. We think that prevalence of COPD in our study was underestimated due to poor registering of the diagnosis code in medical records.

Prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure increased with age in patients without and with COPD as reported in previous studies [27, 28]. In our study the prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure in individuals \geq 80 years in the general population was approximately 11 % and was comparable with previously reported data from epidemiological studies, but differed from the recent Swedish register study where it was about 19 % [23]. A difference between genders was reported in a Swedish epidemiological study. A report from 2001 [29] showed that heart failure was more prevalent in men up to 80 years of age, thereafter, heart failure was more prevalent in women. Our data from 2006 showed no significant difference between women and men even aged \geq 80 years. The newer study [23] with data collection up to 2010 showed, in contrast to the first study, that prevalence was higher in men in groups 80-89 and 90-99.

Women dominated slightly in the group \geq 100 years. The populations in all three studies were large enough to venture to assert that the age limit for healthy survivals has moved during one decade to centenarians, probably thanks to improved strategies in heart failure management in Sweden.

The diagnosis of heart failure occurred in 18.8 % of patients with COPD while in patients without COPD it occurred in 1.6 %. Due to differences in age between groups with and without COPD standardizing for age was made and standardized prevalence was 9.9 % in patients with COPD and 1.5 % in patients without COPD. Previously reported prevalence of heart failure in patients with COPD varied between 10 and 46 % [7]. These data were obtained in different settings and different procedures were used to make the diagnosis of heart failure, ranging from clinical symptoms, standardized chronic heart failure score, the use of natriuretic peptides for assessment of left and right ventricle function by ventriculography or echocardiography. The highest prevalence was reported in emergency setting among patients with symptomatic dyspnea [30]. The diagnosis of heart failure in this study was established by assessment of left and right ventricle function by radionuclide ventriculography. The prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure found in our study (18.8 %) is in agreement with the prevalence of heart failure in patients with COPD (20.5 %) found in the Dutch study conducted in primary health care setting [6]. The diagnosis of heart failure in that study was made by using echocardiography. In our register-based study we could not trace how the diagnosis of heart failure was made.

Differences in frequency of the diagnosis of heart failure between individuals with and without COPD were significant in all age groups except the age 20–39. Calculations in this age group were affected by 0 % prevalence of heart failure diagnosis in individuals with COPD.

Comorbidity in patients with heart failure and COPD is well-known and widely reported [31–37]. The most common comorbid condition in all three groups of patients in our study: COPD alone, heart failure alone and coexisting heart failure and COPD was essential (primary) hypertension coded with either 110 or 110.9. The latter code is used only in secondary care.

The next common diagnosis code in all three groups was Z03.9 Observation for suspected disease or condition, unspecified. This code does not allow identifying of disorder. If the register data should be available as a source of research e.g. prevalence studies, more specific diagnosis codes are desirable. Comorbidity should be considered as an important factor when analyzing needs for health care resources. ACG Case Mix is able to describe comorbidity in a quantitative way and is used in the Swedish health care system for calculation of payment rates. When analyzing comorbidity levels we excluded the main diagnoses of heart failure and COPD. This was done in order to study the importance of other comorbidity that otherwise would be hidden by the heavy burden connected with the diagnosis of heart failure or COPD. The levels of other comorbidity calculated in this way were significantly higher in patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD. That implies a greater need for health care and more extensive resource utilization than in patients with only heart failure or COPD.

The delivery of care to patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD has not been studied previously. When presenting our results in Fig. 2 we omitted groups with the lowest levels of other comorbidity (RUB 0 and 1) due to a small number of patients in those groups. As expected, the higher the levels of other comorbidity the greater participation of secondary care. We did not trace what kind of care patients got in secondary health care units. It might be hospitalizations or consultations in specialized outpatient clinics. Taking into consideration the heavy burden of both heart failure and COPD the participation of primary care was large in our opinion. Half of the patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD and lower levels of other comorbidity (RUB 2) received care only in primary care. In the group with the highest level of other comorbidity (RUB 5) and coexisting heart failure and COPD primary care was involved in almost 40 % of patients, either alone or together with secondary care. In the case of patients with heart failure without COPD the percentage was even higher (74 %). Shared care can be explained by organization of the Swedish health care system and established co-operation between primary and secondary care units concerning chronic diseases.

It is noteworthy that a considerable part of patients with the highest level of other comorbidity (RUB 5) received care only in primary care. A possible explanation might be that the patients were optimally treated and requirement of secondary care was unnecessary during one year period we analyzed. It might also be a matter of the terminal phase of illness and palliative care where primary care plays a central role.

Conclusion

Our study showed that the prevalence of the diagnosis of heart failure in patients with the diagnosis of COPD is common in the Swedish population. Patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD have higher levels of other comorbidity than patients with heart failure or COPD alone. Primary care in Sweden participates to a great extent in care of patients with heart failure and coexisting COPD as well as without COPD.

Abbreviations

COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; ACG: adjusted clinical groups,; RUB: resource utilization band; PHC: primary health care; SHC: secondary health care.

Authors' contributions

EK participated in the design of the study, statistical analysis, data interpretation and drafted the manuscript. HO and LR helped draft the manuscript. AH designed the study, performed the statistical analysis, handled the data set, interpreted the data and participated in drafting the manuscript. All the authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Author details

¹ Olofström Primary Health Care Centre, 293 32 Olofström, Sweden. ² Department of Clinical Sciences in Malmö, General Practice/Family Medicine, Lund University, 205 02 Malmö, Sweden. ³ Research Unit of General Practice, Institute of Public Health, University of Southern Denmark, 5000 Odense, Denmark.

Acknowledgements

The study was supported by Blekinge County Council.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests. We do not have any financial relation with the commercial identities mentioned in the paper.

Received: 20 October 2015 Accepted: 23 March 2016 Published online: 12 April 2016

References

- Halbert RJ, Natoli JL, Gano A, Badamgarav E, Buist AS, Mannino DM. Global burden of COPD: systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Respir J. 2006;28(3):523–32.
- Sullivan SD, Ramsey SD, Lee TA. The economic burden of COPD. Chest. 2000;117(2 Suppl):55–95.
- Lange P, Mogelvang R, Marott JL, Vestbo J, Jensen JS. Cardiovascular morbidity in COPD: a study of the general population. COPD: J Chron Obstr Pulm Dis. 2010;7(1):5–10.
- Curkendall SM, DeLuise C, Jones JK, Lanes S, Stang MR, Goehring E Jr, et al. Cardiovascular disease in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, Saskatchewan Canada cardiovascular disease in COPD patients. Ann Epidemiol. 2006;16(1):63–70.
- Mulrow CD, Lucey CR, Farnett LE. Discriminating causes of dyspnea through clinical examination. J Gen Intern Med. 1993;8(7):383–92.
- Rutten FH, Cramer MJ, Grobbee DE, Sachs AP, Kirkels JH, Lammers JW, et al. Unrecognized heart failure in elderly patients with stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur Heart J. 2005;26(18):1887–94.
- Rutten FH, Cramer MJ, Lammers JW, Grobbee DE, Hoes AW. Heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: an ignored combination? Eur J Heart Fail. 2006;8(7):706–11.
- Minasian AG, van den Elshout FJJ, Dekhuijzen RPN, Vos PJE, Willems FF, van den Bergh PJPC, et al. COPD in chronic heart failure: less common than previously thought? Heart Lung. 2013;42(5):365–71.
- Apostolovic S, Jankovic-Tomasevic R, Salinger-Martinovic S, Djordjevic-Radojkovic D, Stanojevic D, Pavlovic M, et al. Frequency and significance of unrecognized chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in elderly patients with stable heart failure. Aging Clin Exp Res. 2011;23(5–6):337-42.
- 10. Sveriges framtida befolkning: befolkningsframskrivning för åren 2003–2050. 2003. Stockholm: Statistiska centralbyrån (SCB).
- Wiréhn A. A data-rich world: population-based registers in healthcare research. 2007 http://liu.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:16979/FULL-TEXT01.pdf.
- Starfield B, Kinder K. Multimorbidity and its measurement. Health Policy. 2011;103(1):3–8.
- Orueta JF, Lopez-De-Munain J, Baez K, Aiarzaguena JM, Aranguren JI, Pedrero E. Application of the ambulatory care groups in the primary care of a European national health care system: does it work? Med Care. 1999;37(3):238–48.
- Wirehn AB, Karlsson HM, Carstensen JM. Estimating disease prevalence using a population-based administrative healthcare database. Scand J Public Health. 2007;35(4):424–31.
- Stromberg A, Martensson J, Fridlund B, Dahlstrom U. Nurse-led heart failure clinics in Sweden. Eur J Heart Fail. 2001;3(1):139–44.
- Agvall B, Alehagen U, Dahlstrom U. The benefits of using a heart failure management programme in Swedish primary healthcare. Eur J Heart Fail. 2013;15(2):228–36.
- Inghammar M, Engstrom G, Lofdahl CG, Egesten A. Validation of a COPD diagnosis from the Swedish Inpatient Registry. Scand J Public Health. 2012;40(8):773–6.
- Global Strategy for Diagnosis, Management, and Prevention of COPD 2009.
- Lisspers K, Stallberg B, Hasselgren M, Johansson G, Svardsudd K. Organisation of asthma care in primary health care in Mid-Sweden. Prim Care Respir J. 2005;14(3):147–53.

- Lofdahl CG, Tilling B, Ekstrom T, Jorgensen L, Johansson G, Larsson K. COPD health care in Sweden—a study in primary and secondary care. Respir Med. 2010;104(3):404–11.
- Dahlstrom U, Hakansson J, Swedberg K, Waldenstrom A. Adequacy of diagnosis and treatment of chronic heart failure in primary health care in Sweden. Eur J Heart Fail. 2009;11(1):92–8.
- Dahlstrom U, McDonald K, Maisel A. Integration of B-type natriuretic Peptide in heart failure outpatient programs. Congest Heart Fail. 2008;14(4 Suppl 1):9–11.
- Zarrinkoub R, Wettermark B, Wandell P, Mejhert M, Szulkin R, Ljunggren G, et al. The epidemiology of heart failure, based on data for 2.1 million inhabitants in Sweden. Eur J Heart Fail. 2013;15(9):995–1002.
- Mejhert M, Persson H, Edner M, Kahan T. Epidemiology of heart failure in Sweden–a national survey. Eur J Heart Fail. 2001;3(1):97–103.
- Swedish national care program for COPD 2014. Accessed date: 28/5/2014 http://slmf.se/kol/.
- Halbert RJ, Isonaka S, George D, Iqbal A. Interpreting COPD prevalence estimates: what is the true burden of disease? Chest. 2003;123(5):1684–92.
- Mosterd A, Hoes AW. Clinical epidemiology of heart failure. Heart. 2007;93(9):1137–46.
- Lindberg A, Bjerg A, Ronmark E, Larsson LG, Lundback B. Prevalence and underdiagnosis of COPD by disease severity and the attributable fraction of smoking Report from the Obstructive Lung Disease in Northern Sweden Studies. Respir Med. 2006;100(2):264–72.
- Mejhert M, Persson H, Edner M, Kahan T. Epidemiology of heart failure in Sweden–a national survey. Eur J Heart Fail. 2001;3(1):97–103.
- Zema MJ, Masters AP, Margouleff D. Dyspnea: the heart or the lungs? Differentiation at bedside by use of the simple Valsalva maneuver. Chest. 1984;85(1):59–64.
- Oudejans I, Mosterd A, Zuithoff NP, Hoes AW. Comorbidity drives mortality in newly diagnosed heart failure: a study among geriatric outpatients. J Cardiac Fail. 2012;18(1):47–52.
- van der Wel MC, Jansen RWMM, Bakx JC, Bor HHJ, OldeRikkert MGM, van Weel C. Non-cardiovascular co-morbidity in elderly patients with heart failure outnumbers cardiovascular co-morbidity. Eur J Heart Fail. 2007;9(6–7):709–15.
- Moser DK, Dracup K, Evangelista LS, Zambroski CH, Lennie TA, Chung ML, et al. Comparison of prevalence of symptoms of depression, anxiety, and hostility in elderly patients with heart failure, myocardial infarction, and a coronary artery bypass graft. Heart Lung. 2010;39(5):378–85.
- Garcia Rodriguez LA. Wallander M-, Martin-Merino E, Johansson S. Heart failure, myocardial infarction, lung cancer and death in COPD patients: a UK primary care study. Respir Med. 2010;104(11):1691–9.
- Fabbri LM, Luppi F, Beghe B, Rabe KF. Complex chronic comorbidities of COPD. Eur Respir J. 2008;31(1):204–12.
- Feary JR, Rodrigues LC, Smith CJ, Hubbard RB, Gibson JE. Prevalence of major comorbidities in subjects with COPD and incidence of myocardial infarction and stroke: a comprehensive analysis using data from primary care. Thorax. 2010;65(11):956–62.
- Eriksson B, Lindberg A, Mullerova H, Ronmark E, Lundback B. Association of heart diseases with COPD and restrictive lung function-Results from a population survey. Respir Med. 2013;107(1):98–106.

Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and we will help you at every step:

- We accept pre-submission inquiries
- Our selector tool helps you to find the most relevant journal
- We provide round the clock customer support
- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- Inclusion in PubMed and all major indexing services
- Maximum visibility for your research

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit



Paper IV

Impact of heart failure and other comorbidities on mortality in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Elzbieta Kaszuba^{1,2}, Håkan Odeberg^{,2}, Lennart Råstam², Anders Halling^{,2}.

¹ Samaritens Primary Health Care Centre, 374 80 Karlshamn, Sweden

² Center for Primary Health Care Research, Family Medicine, Department of Clinical Sciences in Malmö, Lund University, SE-205 02 Malmö, Sweden

E-Mail addresses:

EK: elzbieta.kaszuba@med.lu.se

HO: hakan@odeberg.com

LR: lennart.rastam@med.lu.se

AH: anders.halling@med.lu.se

Abstract

Background Multimorbidity has already become common in primary care and will be a challenge in the future. Primary care in Sweden participates to a great extent in care of patients with two severe, chronic conditions: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and heart failure. Both conditions are characterized by high mortality and often coexist in one individual. Age, sex and comorbidities are considered to be the major predictors of mortality in patients with COPD and heart failure alone.

Aim To study how coexisting heart failure influences the mortality in patients with COPD and describe the impact of age, sex and other comorbidities on mortality in patients with coexisting heart failure and COPD.

Methods A register-based, prospective cohort study conducted in Blekinge County in Sweden with about 150 000 inhabitants. The study population comprised people aged \geq 35 years.

The data about diagnoses of COPD and heart failure came from the health care register for the year 2007. Date of death was collected from January1st, 2008 – August 31st, 2015 and obtained from the Blekinge County council. The diagnosis-based Adjusted Clinical Groups (ACG) Case-Mix System 7.1 was used to describe comorbidity. Each individual was assigned one of six comorbidity levels called resource utilization bands (RUB) graded from 0 to 5 where 5 means very high morbidity and need for care.

Results Estimated mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure was 7 times higher than in patients with COPD alone - odds ratio 7.06 (95% CI 3.88-12.84). Adjusting for age and male sex resulted in odds ratio 3.75 (95% CI 1.97-7.15). Further adjusting for other comorbidity resulted in odds ratio 3.26 (95% CI 1.70-6.25).

The mortality was strongly associated with the highest comorbidity level – RUB 5 where odds ratio was 5.19 (95% CI 2.59-10.38).

Conclusion

Heart failure has an important impact on mortality in patients with COPD. The mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure is strongly associated with age, male sex and other comorbidities. Of those three predictors only other comorbidities can be influenced. Heart failure and other comorbidities should be recognized early and properly treated in order to improve survival in patients with coexisting COPD and heart failure.

Keywords

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, heart failure, mortality, age, sex, comorbidity.

Background

Today general practitioners seldom encounter patients with only one disease.

Population ages and patients of higher age are more likely to have two or more coexisting chronic disorders [1]. Multimorbidity has already become a norm and will be a challenge to future primary care. Our previous study showed that primary

care in Sweden participates to a great extent in the care of patients with two severe, chronic conditions: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and heart failure [2]. Both conditions are common in the Swedish population [3-5]. Prevalence of COPD is still high despite decreasing prevalence of smoking in Sweden [6]. COPD is predicted to be the third most common cause of death and disability worldwide by 2030 [7]. High mortality is not caused by respiratory failure which from the pathophysiological point of view can be considered a natural consequence of COPD due to disturbances in gas exchange [8]. Respiratory failure was a leading cause of death only in patients with advanced COPD and could explain mortality in only onethird of these patients [9]. The major independent predictors of mortality in COPD were comorbidity and sex [10-12]. Heart failure occurs with high prevalence in patients with COPD [13]. Although the strategies in management of heart failure have improved during last decades, prognosis remains poor [14-16]. Comorbidities, age and sex are independent indicators for the prognosis in heart failure [17, 18]. Despite increasing understanding that COPD and heart failure often coexist [19] they have earlier mostly been studied separately. It is a matter of course that the more disorders an individual has the worse the outcome will be. However, it is not clear if one plus one makes two in medical practice. The aim of this study was to find how much coexisting heart failure increases probability of death in patients with COPD and describe the impact of age, sex and other comorbidities on mortality in patients with coexisting COPD and heart failure. Thereby we wanted to find what coexisting heart failure and other comorbidities mean for the survival of an individual with COPD, which is of special importance in primary care were the patient is the focus.

Methods

This was a register-based, prospective, observational study. The study was conducted in Blekinge County in Sweden with about 150 000 inhabitants. The study population comprised people aged \geq 35 years.

The data were obtained from the Blekinge County council health care register which collected data concerning diagnosis at each consultation in all public and private health care units in both primary and secondary health care. Diagnoses were recorded according the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems version 10 (ICD 10). We analyzed data from January 1st till December 31st, 2007.

An individual was identified as having COPD if the diagnosis code J44 was recorded on at least one consultation in primary or secondary care including hospitalization. The code J44 comprised the following: J44 chronic obstructive lung

disease, J44.0 chronic obstructive lung disease with acute infection in lower airways, J44.1 chronic obstructive lung disease with acute exacerbation, unspecified, J44.8 other specified chronic obstructive lung disease including chronic bronchitis with emphysema. The register did not contain information on the severity of COPD.

Coexisting heart failure was identified if the diagnosis code I50 was recorded.

The code I50 comprised: I50.0- chronic heart failure including congestive heart failure, right heart failure secondary to left heart failure, I50.1- left ventricular failure with or without lung oedema and asthma cardiale, I50.9 heart failure, unspecified. Occurrence of other diagnoses in medical records is referred to as other comorbidities.

The diagnosis-based Adjusted Clinical Groups (ACG) Case-Mix System 7.1 was used to measure other comorbidities [20, 21]. Each individual was assigned one of six comorbidity levels called resource utilization bands (RUB) graded from 0 to 5, where 5 means very high morbidity and need for care.

The date of death was collected from January1st, 2008 –August 31st, 2015 and was obtained from the Blekinge County council. Individuals who left the Blekinge County during the observation time were excluded from the study.

Statistics

Data were analyzed in the STATA version 13 (Stata Corporation, Texas, USA).

Distribution of categorical variables was presented as numbers. Distribution of continuous variables was presented as a mean and 95% Confidence Interval (CI).

Univariate analysis was used to calculate odds ratios of mortality for different variables. Logistic regression was used to calculate adjusted odds ratios step-by-step. Thereafter multiple logistic regression was performed in order to adjust the estimated odds ratio for the influence of age, sex and other comorbidities.

Ethics

The study has been approved by the Research Ethics Committee at Lund University No 2015/169.

Results

The study population consisted of 91 227 individuals aged \geq 35 years of which 51.07% were female and 48.93% were male. The diagnosis of COPD was registered in 1011 indviduals of which 27 (2.67%) moved and were excluded from the study. The final analyses were made on data from 984 individuals of which 53% were female and 47% male. The mean age in patients with the diagnosis of COPD was 71.1 (95% CI 70.4-71.8). The mean age for women was 69.4 (95% CI 68.5-70.4) and for men 72.9 (95% CI 72.0-73.8).

Comorbidity levels described by RUB were distributed as follows: RUB 3- 71.14 % (n=700), RUB 4 -21.65% (n=213), RUB 5 -7.22% (n=71).

We found the diagnosis of heart failure in 10.06% (n=99) of patients with the diagnosis of COPD.

Univariate analysis resulted in odds ratio of mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure 7.06 (95% CI 3.88-12.84). The highest level of other comorbidities was the next important variable which influenced mortality (Table 1).

Adjusting for age resulted in odds ratio 3.76 (95% CI 1.98-7.16) and for age and male sex in odds ratio 3.75 (95% CI 1.79-3.26 (1.70-6.25). Further adjusting for other comorbidity resulted in odds ratio 3.26 (95% CI 1.70-6.25). Adjusted odds ratios are presented in Table 2.

Multiple logistic regression showed that the mortality was associated with age and male sex but the strongest risk factor for mortality was the highest comorbidity level – RUB 5 where odds ratio was 5.19 (95% CI 2.59-10.38) (Table 3).

Discussion

We found that the odds of mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure were 7 times higher than in patients with COPD alone. Other comorbidities influenced mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure more than age and sex. Our study was register based. The primary source of information in the register was the patient's medical record. Because of the listing system in primary care in the Blekinge County we could study the whole population, which is a strength of our study. Each inhabitant was either actively or passively listed with a primary health care centre. Furthermore we collected data from both primary and secondary care. The limitation of our study is validity and completeness of diagnoses of COPD and heart failure in the medical record. Previous studies, however, showed that both diagnoses in Swedish registers had acceptable validity for being used in epidemiological research [22, 23]. Heart failure was previously

reported as the most common comorbidity noted in deceased patients hospitalized with COPD exacerbation [24]. Our study confirmed that coexisting heart failure considerably increases the probability of death in patients with COPD in general population. This is not surprising when taking into consideration that COPD is associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular diseases [25] due to smoking as a common risk factor and systemic inflammation, oxidative and physiologic stress and vascular dysfunction as a common mechanism [26]. Age and male sex were associated with higher mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure as expected when taking into consideration data on heart failure [17] and COPD alone [24]. A wide spectrum of comorbidities was previously reported as factors associated with mortality for patients with heart failure and COPD alone. Comorbidities with highest impact on mortality in patients with heart failure were: COPD, stroke, renal disease, anemia, diabetes [16] and for patients with COPD: respiratory failure, pneumonia, heart failure, ischaemic heart disease, hypertension and lung cancer [27]. The most common comorbid diagnosis in our material was hypertension, other common comorbidities were atrial fibrillation, diabetes type 2 and ischaemic heart disease. We think that those chronic and treatable conditions were the most important for comorbidity levels and mortality in our study population. The importance of comorbidity for mortality was shown in a Swedish study in patients with severe COPD treated with long-term oxygen therapy [28]. We showed the same effect of comorbidity in a whole population of patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure.

Comorbidity in our study was calculated as an individual measure using diagnoses analyzed with the ACG Case Mix system. The severity and chronicity of the different diagnoses in an individual led to a higher level of comorbidity (RUB). RUB is a categorization of the individual patient's morbidity and describes the sum of all comorbidities in an individual. We showed that the higher the level of comorbidity the higher odds ratio of mortality even when presence of heart failure was adjusted for. Odds ratio of mortality adjusted for age and male sex in the group with the highest level of other comorbidity was 5 times higher. This means that other comorbidities are an important independent predictor of mortality which should be recognized when treating patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure. Identifying and proper management of other comorbidities may decrease the odds of mortality in these patients.

Conclusion

Coexisting heart failure increases considerably the odds of mortality in patients with COPD.

The mortality in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure is strongly associated with age, male sex and other comorbidities. Of those three predictors only other comorbidities can be influenced. It is important to early recognize and adequately treat other comorbidities in patients with COPD and coexisting heart failure since they significantly influence survival.

Table 1.

Odds ratios of mortality in patients with COPD - univariate analyse of different variables used.

Univariate	OR (95%CI)
Heart failure	7.06 (3.88-12.84)
Age	1.13 (1.11-1.14)
Male sex	1.78 (1.38-2.30)
RUB 4	2.03 (1.48-2.78)
RUB 5	4.78 (2.61-8.74)

Table 2.

Odds ratios (OR) of mortality in heart failure in patients with COPD adjusted for different variables used.

Variables	OR (95%CI)
Heart failure	7.06 (3.88-12.84)
Heart failure, age	3.76 (1.98-7.16)
Heart failure, age, male sex	3.75 (1.97-7.15)
Heart failure, age, male sex, other comorbidities	3.26 (1.70-6.25)

Table 3.

Importance of different variables for mortality in patients with COPD. Odds ratios (OR) were adjusted for all other variables.

Variables	Adjusted OR (95%CI)
Heart failure	3.26 (1.70-6.25)
Age	1.12 (1.10-1.14)
Male sex	1.37 (1.02-1.85)
RUB 4	1.82 (1.26-2.65)
RUB 5	5.19 (2.59-10.38)

References

- Marengoni A, Angleman S, Melis R, Mangialasche F, Karp A, Garmen A, Meinow B, Fratiglioni L: Aging with multimorbidity: a systematic review of the literature. Ageing Res Rev 2011, 10(4):430-439.
- Kaszuba E, Odeberg H, Råstam L, Halling A: Heart failure and levels of other comorbidities in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in a Swedish population: a register-based study. BMC Res Notes 2016, 9:215-016-2008-4.
- 3. Swedish national care program for COPD [Swedish] [http://slmf.se/kol/huvudpunkter/]
- 4. RiksSvikt. Swedish National Heart Failure Register [http://www.ucr.uu.se/rikssvikt/]
- Eriksson H, Svärdsudd K, Larsson B, Ohlson LO, Tibblin G, Welin L, Wilhelmsen L: Risk factors for heart failure in the general population: the study of men born in 1913. Eur Heart J 1989, 10(7):647-656.
- 6. Backman H, Eriksson B, Rönmark E, Hedman L, Stridsman C, Jansson SA, Lindberg A, Lundbäck B: Decreased prevalence of moderate to severe COPD over 15 years in northern Sweden. Respir Med 2016, 114:103-110.
- 7. Chronic respiratory diseases [http://www.who.int/respiratory/copd/burden/en/]
- 8. Harada T, Yamasaki A, Fukushima T, Hashimoto K, Takata M, Kodani M, Okazaki R, Takeda K, Watanabe M, Kurai J, Shimizu E: **Causes of death in patients with** asthma and asthma-chronic obstructive pulmonary disease overlap syndrome. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 2015, 10:595-602.
- Zielinski J, MacNee W, Wedzicha J, Ambrosino N, Braghiroli A, Dolensky J, Howard P, Gorzelak K, Lahdensuo A, Strom K, Tobiasz M, Weitzenblum E: Causes of death in patients with COPD and chronic respiratory failure. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 1997, 52(1):43-47.
- Groenewegen KH, Schols AM, W, J, Wouters EF, M, Fccp: Mortality and Mortality-Related Factors After Hospitalization for Acute Exacerbation of COPD*. Chest 2003, 124(2):459-467.
- de Torres JP, Cote CG, Lopez MV, Casanova C, Diaz O, Marin JM, Pinto-Plata V, de Oca MM, Nekach H, Dordelly LJ, Aguirre-Jaime A, Celli BR: Sex differences in mortality in patients with COPD. Eur Respir J 2009, 33(3):528-535.
- 12. Hasegawa W, Yamauchi Y, Yasunaga H, Sunohara M, Jo T, Matsui H, Fushimi K, Takami K, Nagase T: Factors affecting mortality following emergency admission for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. BMC Pulm Med 2014, 14:151-2466-14-151.
- Rutten FH, Cramer MJ, Grobbee DE, Sachs AP, Kirkels JH, Lammers JW, Hoes AW: Unrecognized heart failure in elderly patients with stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Eur Heart J 2005, 26(18):1887-1894.
- Jhund PS, Macintyre K, Simpson CR, Lewsey JD, Stewart S, Redpath A, Chalmers JW, Capewell S, McMurray JJ: Long-term trends in first hospitalization for heart failure and subsequent survival between 1986 and 2003: a population study of 5.1 million people. Circulation 2009, 119(4):515-523.

- 15. Maggioni AP, Dahlström U, Filippatos G, Chioncel O, Leiro MC, Drozdz J, Fruhwald F, Gullestad L, Logeart D, Metra M, Parissis J, Persson H, Ponikowski P, Rauchhaus M, Voors A, Nielsen OW, Zannad F, Tavazzi L, Heart Failure Association of ESC (HFA): EURObservational Research Programme: the Heart Failure Pilot Survey (ESC-HF Pilot). Eur J Heart Fail 2010, 12(10):1076-1084.
- Joffe SW, Webster K, McManus DD, Kiernan MS, Lessard D, Yarzebski J, Darling C, Gore JM, Goldberg RJ: Improved survival after heart failure: a communitybased perspective. J Am Heart Assoc 2013, 2(3):e000053.
- 17. Jong P, Vowinckel E, Liu PP, Gong Y, Tu JV: **Prognosis and determinants of** survival in patients newly hospitalized for heart failure: a population-based study. Arch Intern Med 2002, **162**(15):1689-1694.
- Simon T, Mary-Krause M, Funck-Brentano C, Jaillon P: Sex differences in the prognosis of congestive heart failure: results from the Cardiac Insufficiency Bisoprolol Study (CIBIS II). Circulation 2001, 103(3):375-380.
- 19. Rutten FH, Cramer MJ, Lammers JW, Grobbee DE, Hoes AW: Heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: An ignored combination? Eur J Heart Fail 2006, 8(7):706-711.
- 20. Starfield B, Kinder K: Multimorbidity and its measurement. Health Policy 2011, 103(1):3-8.
- 21. Orueta JF, Lopez-De-Munain J, Baez K, Aiarzaguena JM, Aranguren JI, Pedrero E: Application of the ambulatory care groups in the primary care of a European national health care system: does it work?. Med Care 1999, 37(3):238-248.
- Inghammar M, Engström G, Löfdahl CG, Egesten A: Validation of a COPD diagnosis from the Swedish Inpatient Registry. Scand J Public Health 2012, 40(8):773-776.
- 23. Ingelsson E, Ärnlöv J, Sundström J, Lind L: The validity of a diagnosis of heart failure in a hospital discharge register. Eur J Heart Fail 2005, 7(5):787-791.
- 24. Almagro P, Calbo E, Ochoa de Echaguen A, Barreiro B, Quintana S, Heredia JL, Garau J: Mortality after hospitalization for COPD. Chest 2002, 121(5):1441-1448.
- 25. Feary JR, Rodrigues LC, Smith CJ, Hubbard RB, Gibson JE: Prevalence of major comorbidities in subjects with COPD and incidence of myocardial infarction and stroke: a comprehensive analysis using data from primary care. Thorax 2010, 65(11):956-962.
- Maclay JD, MacNee W: Cardiovascular disease in COPD: mechanisms. Chest 2013, 143(3):798-807.
- Sin DD, Anthonisen NR, Soriano JB, Agusti AG: Mortality in COPD: Role of comorbidities. Eur Respir J 2006, 28(6):1245-1257.
- Ekström MP, Jogreus C, Ström KE: Comorbidity and sex-related differences in mortality in oxygen-dependent chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. PLoS One 2012, 7(4):e35806.